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Item 8.01.  Other Events.  

Debt Financing  

As reported in its Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 17, 2007, in connection with the financing of its proposed acquisition of 
Keystone Automotive Industries, Inc. (“Keystone”) for an aggregate purchase price before transaction costs of approximately $811 million (the 
“Keystone Acquisition”), LKQ Corporation (“LKQ”) entered into a debt financing commitment letter with affiliates of Lehman Brothers Inc. 
and Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc. to provide approximately $1.09 billion in debt financing, consisting of (1) a seven-year, $840 million first-
lien term loan facility, (2) a six-year, $100 million revolving credit facility, and (3) a seven-and-one-half year, $150 million second-lien term 
loan facility.  

All of the obligations under the first-lien credit facility will be unconditionally guaranteed by each of LKQ’s direct and indirect 
domestic subsidiaries (the "Guarantors"). Obligations under the first-lien credit facility, including the related guarantees, will be secured by a 
first priority security interest in all of (i) the stock, other equity interests and promissory notes owned by LKQ and the Guarantors, provided 
that not more than 65% of the total outstanding voting stock of any direct or indirect non-U.S. subsidiary of LKQ which is a "controlled foreign 
corporation" shall be required to be pledged, and (ii) the other tangible and intangible assets owned by LKQ and the Guarantors, including, 
without limitation, receivables, cash and securities deposit accounts, contract rights, securities, patents, trademarks, other intellectual property, 
inventory, equipment, and real estate, but excluding immaterial owned real property and motor vehicles.  

Amounts under the first-lien term loan facility will be due and payable in quarterly installments equal to 0.25% of the initial aggregate 
principal amount during the first six and three-fourths years, with the balance payable in full in year seven. Amounts under the revolving credit 
facility will be due and payable in full in year six. LKQ will also be required to prepay the first-lien term loan facility upon the sale of certain 
assets, upon the incurrence of certain debt, upon receipt of certain insurance and condemnation proceeds, and with up to 50% of our excess 
cash flow (subject, in the case of excess cash flow, to step-downs based on our total leverage ratio).  

Indebtedness under the first-lien credit facility will bear interest, at LKQ’s option, at (i) a base rate (the higher of (x) the rate that the 
Administrative Agent (which will be Lehman Commercial Paper Inc.) (the "Administrative Agent") announces from time to time as its prime 
lending rate, as in effect from time to time, and (y) 1/2 of 1% in excess of the overnight federal funds rate) plus an applicable margin currently 
expected to be 1.00% per annum, or (ii) a Eurodollar rate as determined by the Administrative Agent for the respective interest period plus an 
applicable margin currently expected to be 2.00% per annum, except that indebtedness in respect of swingline loans shall bear interest only at 
the rate referred to in clause (i). The interest rates could, under certain circumstances, increase from between 0.25% to 0.75%. The applicable 
margin for loans under the revolving credit facility will be subject to quarterly step-downs based upon LKQ’s total leverage ratio and the 
interest rate option we choose. Interest will be payable quarterly in arrears, except that interest calculated under clause (ii) will be payable in 
arrears on the last day of the relevant interest period and, for any interest period longer than three months, quarterly. Any default in the 
payment of principal, interest, or other overdue amounts shall bear interest at 2% above the rate otherwise applicable (or, if there is no 
applicable rate, at 2% above the rate referred to in clause (i) above). All overdue amounts shall be payable on demand.  

LKQ’s first-lien credit facility agreement will contain customary representations and warranties, and will contain customary covenants 
that restrict LKQ’s ability to, among other things (i) incur liens, (ii) incur any indebtedness (including guarantees or other contingent 
obligations), (iii) engage in mergers and consolidations, (iv) engage in sales, transfers, and other dispositions of property and assets (including 
sale-leaseback transactions), (v) make loans, acquisitions, joint ventures, and other investments, (vi) make dividends and other distributions to, 
and redemptions and repurchases from, equity holders, (vii) prepay, redeem, or repurchase certain debt, (viii) make changes in the nature of 
LKQ’s business, (ix) amend our organizational documents, or amend or otherwise modify certain of LKQ’s debt documents, (x) change our 
fiscal quarter and fiscal year ends, (xi) enter into transactions with our affiliates, (xii) make dividends, loans, and other transfers by our 
subsidiaries, and (xiii) issue certain equity interests. LKQ’s first-lien credit facility will also require LKQ to comply with certain financial and 
affirmative covenants, including, without limitation, using the cash on hand of Keystone to repay outstanding loans under LKQ’s revolving 
credit facility within five days of the closing date.  

LKQ’s first-lien credit facility agreement will contain events of default that will include, but may not be limited to, (i) LKQ’s failure 
to pay principal when due or interest, fees or other amounts after grace periods to be mutually agreed upon, (ii) covenant defaults, (iii) LKQ’s 
material breach of any representation or warranty, (iv) cross defaults to certain other indebtedness, (v) bankruptcy, insolvency, or other similar 
proceedings, (vi) LKQ’s inability to pay debts, (vii) monetary judgment defaults over an amount to be mutually agreed upon and material 
nonmonetary judgment defaults, (viii) customary ERISA and environmental defaults, (ix) actual or asserted invalidity of any material provision 
of the loan documentation or impairment of a portion of the collateral to be agreed upon, and (x) a change of control.  

The proceeds of the debt financing are intended to finance the payment of the consideration for the Keystone Acquisition, the 
repayment or refinancing of certain of LKQ’s debt outstanding on the closing date of the Keystone Acquisition, and to pay fees and expenses 
related to these transactions, and, in the case of the revolving facility, to fund general working capital requirements after the closing date of the 
Keystone Acquisition.  The proceeds LKQ expects to receive from the proposed stock offering described below are expected to eliminate its 
need to enter into the $150 million second-lien term loan facility and to reduce to $750 million the amount LKQ would borrow under the $840 
million first-lien term loan facility.  

 

 



   

Proposed Stock Offering  

Today LKQ intends to file a preliminary prospectus supplement relating to the proposed sale of shares of its common stock under 
LKQ’s prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to LKQ’s automatic shelf registration statement on Form S-
3ASR (No. 333-133910) (the “Registration Statement”), which was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2006.  The 
proposed offering includes 8,500,000 primary shares to be sold by LKQ and 1,500,000 secondary shares to be sold by selling stockholders.  
LKQ will not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares of its common stock by the selling stockholders.  

LKQ intends to use its net proceeds from the proposed offering, along with the proceeds from the debt financing described above, to 
finance the Keystone Acquisition, repay or refinance certain of LKQ’s debt outstanding on the closing date of the Keystone Acquisition, and to 
pay fees and expenses associated with these transactions (collectively, the “Transactions”).  

The prospectus supplement forming part of the Registration Statement will incorporate by reference (i) the audited consolidated 
financial statements of Keystone as of March 31, 2006 and March 30, 2007 and for each of the three years in the period ended March 30, 2007, 
and the unaudited interim consolidated  financial statements of Keystone as of June 29, 2007 and for the 13-week periods ended June 29, 2007 
and June 30, 2006 and (ii) the unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial information of LKQ for the year ended December 31, 2006 
and as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2007 that give effect to the Transactions, which are attached as Exhibits 99.1 and 99.2 hereto, 
respectively.  

The closing of the proposed stock offering is not conditioned on the closing of the debt financing or the Keystone Acquisition, and 
LKQ expects to close the proposed stock offering prior to completing either the debt financing or the Keystone Acquisition.  

This report does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities. The proposed stock offering is being 
made only by means of the prospectus and prospectus supplement relating to that offering, a copy of which may be obtained from the offices of 
Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporated, 777 East Wisconsin Avenue, 28th Floor, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202-5391.  An electronic copy of the 
prospectus and prospectus supplement is available on the Securities and Exchange Commission website at www.sec.gov.  

Item 9.01.  Financial Statements and Exhibits.  

(a)  Financial Statements of Businesses Acquired  

The audited consolidated financial statements of Keystone as of March 31, 2006 and March 30, 2007 and for each of the three years in 
the period ended March 30, 2007, and the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of Keystone for the  
13-week period ended June 29, 2007 are attached as an exhibit hereto and listed in Item 9.01(d).  

(b)  Pro Forma Financial Information  

The unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial information of LKQ giving effect to the Transactions for the year ended 
December 31, 2006 and as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2007 is attached as an exhibit hereto and listed in  
Item 9.01(d).  

(c)  Shell Company Transactions  

Not applicable.  

(d)  Exhibits  

   

   

 

 

Exhibit 
Number     Description  

         
23.1  

   
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.  

99.1  
   

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Keystone Industries, Inc. as of March 31, 2006 and March 30, 2007 and for each of 
the three years in the period ended March 30, 2007, and unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of Keystone 
Industries, Inc. as of June 29, 2007 and for the 13-week period ended June 29, 2007.  

99.2  
   

Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Condensed Financial Statements of LKQ Corporation giving effect to the Transactions for the 
year ended December 31, 2006 and as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2007.  



   

SIGNATURE  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.  

Dated:    September 5, 2007  

   

 

 

LKQ Corporation  
      

            
            
            
   

By:  /s/ VICTOR M. CASINI  
      

      
Victor M. Casini  

      
      

Vice President and General Counsel  
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Number      

Description  
         
23.1  

   
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.  

99.1  
   

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Keystone Industries, Inc. as of March 31, 2006 and March 30, 2007 and for each of 
the three years in the period ended March 30, 2007, and unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of Keystone 
Industries, Inc. as of June 29, 2007 and for the 13-week period ended June 29, 2007.  

99.2  
   

Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Condensed Financial Statements of LKQ Corporation giving effect to the Transactions for the 
year ended December 31, 2006 and as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2007.  



EXHIBIT 23.1 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  

We consent to reference to our firm under the caption “Experts” in the Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-133910) and related 
Prospectus Supplement of LKQ Corporation covering 10,000,000 shares of its common stock and to the incorporation by reference therein, and 
to the incorporation by reference in the LKQ Corporation Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-110149) pertaining to the LKQ 
Corporation 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, CEO Stock Option Plan, and Stock Option and Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors, and 
to the incorporation by reference in the LKQ Corporation Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-128151) pertaining to the LKQ 
Corporation 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, and to the incorporation by reference in the LKQ Corporation Registration Statement (Form S-4 No. 
333-133911) for the registration of 5,000,000 shares of its common stock of our report dated June 8, 2007, with respect to the consolidated 
financial statements of Keystone Automotive Industries, Inc. as of March 30, 2007 and March 31, 2006 and for each of the three years in the 
period ended March 30, 2007, included in this Current Report on Form 8-K of LKQ Corporation dated September 5, 2007.  

   
 

 

   
/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP  

         
Los Angeles, California  

      

August 31, 2007  
      



Exhibit 99.1 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

The Board of Directors and Shareholders  
Keystone Automotive Industries, Inc.  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Keystone Automotive Industries, Inc. as of March 30, 2007 and 
March 31, 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended March 30, 2007. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 
Keystone Automotive Industries, Inc. at March 30, 2007 and March 31, 2006, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows 
for each of the three years in the period ended March 30, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  

As discussed in Notes 1 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements, on April 1, 2006, the Company changed its method of accounting 
for share-based payments in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R) as of April 1, 2006. Additionally, as 
discussed in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and 
Other Postretirement Plans in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158 as of March 30, 2007.  

/s/ E RNST & YOUNG LLP  

Los Angeles, California  
June 8, 2007  
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KEYSTONE AUTOMOTIVE INDUSTRIES, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

(in thousands)  

   

   

See accompanying notes.  

2  
 

      March 30,  
2007     March 31,  

2006     
A S S E T S  

               
Current assets:  

               
Cash and cash equivalents  

   $ 20,593 
   $ 4,733 

   
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $843 in 2007 and $935 in 2006  

   65,154 
   56,774 

   
Inventories, primarily finished goods  

   133,877 
   128,458 

   
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  

   7,840 
   9,118 

   
Deferred taxes  

   11,235 
   8,019 

   
               

Total current assets  
   238,699 

   207,102 
   

Property, plant and equipment, at cost:  
               

Land  
   597 

   597 
   

Buildings and leasehold improvements  
   18,852 

   14,583 
   

Machinery and equipment  
   55,085 

   46,163 
   

Furniture and fixtures  
   10,005 

   8,716 
   

               
   

   84,539 
   70,059 

   
Accumulated depreciation and amortization  

   (45,483 )  (36,346 ) 
               
   

   39,056 
   33,713 

   
Goodwill  

   39,568 
   39,369 

   
Other intangibles, net of accumulated amortization of $1,932 in 2007 and $1,544 in 2006  

   1,017 
   1,402 

   
Other assets  

   5,944 
   4,533 

   
Deferred taxes  

   2,696 
   2,574 

   
               

Total assets  
   $ 326,980 

   $ 288,693 
   

               
L I A B I L I T I E S   A N D   S H A R E H O L D E  R S’    E  Q U I T Y  

               
Current liabilities:  

               
Credit facility  

   $ — 
   $ 9,544 

   
Accounts payable  

   36,053 
   35,310 

   
Accrued salaries, wages and related benefits  

   11,245 
   8,636 

   
Other accrued liabilities  

   13,635 
   10,883 

   
Income taxes payable  

   2,329 
   — 

   
               

Total current liabilities  
   63,262 

   64,373 
   

Other long-term liabilities  
   3,687 

   1,373 
   

Commitments and contingencies  
   — 

   — 
   

Shareholders’  equity:  
               

Preferred stock, no par value:  
               

Authorized shares—3,000  
               

None issued and outstanding  
               

Common stock, no par value:  
               

Authorized shares—50,000  
               

Issued and outstanding shares—16,371 in 2007 and 16,210 in 2006, at stated value  
   101,661 

   97,956 
   

Restricted stock  
   — 

   1,154 
   

Additional paid-in capital  
   15,000 

   10,470 
   

Retained earnings  
   143,683 

   113,359 
   

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income  
   (313 )  8 

   
               

Total shareholders’ equity  
   260,031 

   222,947 
   

               
   

   $ 326,980 
   $ 288,693 

   



 



KEYSTONE AUTOMOTIVE INDUSTRIES, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME  

(in thousands, except per share amounts)  

   

   

See accompanying notes.  
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      Year Ended     
      March 30,  

2007     March 31,  
2006     April 1,  

2005     
Net sales  

   $ 713,955 
   $ 628,328 

   $ 557,705 
   

Cost of sales  
   395,338 

   346,362 
   314,792 

   
                    
Gross profit  

   318,617 
   281,966 

   242,913 
   

Operating expenses:  
                     

Selling and distribution  
   199,749 

   189,665 
   167,721 

   
General and administrative  

   71,238 
   56,732 

   54,258 
   

                    
   

   270,987 
   246,397 

   221,979 
   

                    
Operating income  

   47,630 
   35,569 

   20,934 
   

Other income  
   2,936 

   2,243 
   2,881 

   
Interest expense  

   (299 )  (770 )  (259 ) 
                    
Income before income taxes  

   50,267 
   37,042 

   23,556 
   

Income taxes  
   19,943 

   14,784 
   9,296 

   
                    
Net income  

   $ 30,324 
   $ 22,258 

   $ 14,260 
   

                    
Per Common Share:  

                     
Net income per share:  

                     
Basic  

   $ 1.86 
   $ 1.39 

   $ .91 
   

                    
Diluted  

   $ 1.84 
   $ 1.38 

   $ .90 
   

                    
Weighted average common shares outstanding:  

                     
Basic  

   16,276 
   16,000 

   15,642 
   

                    
Diluted  

   16,450 
   16,095 

   15,787 
   



KEYSTONE AUTOMOTIVE INDUSTRIES, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

(in thousands)  

   

See accompanying notes.  
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      Common Stock     Restricted  
Stock     

Additional  
Paid-in  
Capital     Retained  

Earnings     

Accumulated  
Other  

Comprehensive  
(Loss) Income     Total     

      Shares     Amount                                   
Balance at March 26, 2004  

   15,443 
   $ 89,492 

   $ 180 
   $ 5,967 

   $ 76,841 
   $ (953 ) $ 171,527 

   
Net income  

   — 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   14,260 
   — 

   14,260 
   

Defined benefit plan funding adjustments  
net of taxes of $209  

   — 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   — 
   (334 ) (334 ) 

Foreign currency exchange  
   — 

   — 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   564 
   564 

   
                                 
Comprehensive income  

   — 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   14,490 
   

Stock options exercised  
   396 

   3,752 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   — 
   3,752 

   
Full-value shares  

   — 
   — 

   280 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   280 
   

Tax benefit of stock options exercised  
   — 

   — 
   — 

   1,728 
   — 

   — 
   1,728 

   
                                 
Balance at April 1, 2005  

   15,839 
   $ 93,244 

   $ 460 
   $ 7,695 

   $ 91,101 
   $ (723 ) $ 191,777 

   
Net income  

   — 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   22,258 
   — 

   22,258 
   

Defined benefit plan funding adjustments  
net of taxes of $348  

   — 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   — 
   546 

   546 
   

Foreign currency exchange  
   — 

   — 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   185 
   185 

   
                                 
Comprehensive income  

   — 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   22,989 
   

Stock options exercised  
   371 

   4,712 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   — 
   4,712 

   
Full-value shares  

   — 
   — 

   694 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   694 
   

Tax benefit of stock options exercised  
   — 

   — 
   — 

   2,775 
   — 

   — 
   2,775 

   
                                 
Balance at March 31, 2006  

   16,210 
   $ 97,956 

   $ 1,154 
   $ 10,470 

   $ 113,359 
   $ 8 

   $ 222,947 
   

Net income  
   — 

   — 
   — 

   — 
   30,324 

   — 
   30,324 

   
Adjustment to initially apply SFAS  

No. 158, net of taxes $262  
   — 

   — 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   (420 ) (420 ) 
Defined benefit plan funding adjustments  

net of taxes of $17  
   — 

   — 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   (26 ) (26 ) 
Foreign currency exchange  

   — 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   — 
   125 

   125 
   

                                 
Comprehensive income  

   — 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   30,003 
   

Stock options exercised  
   154 

   2,753 
   — 

   — 
   — 

   — 
   2,753 

   
Full-value shares  

   7 
   952 

   (1,154 ) 2,164 
   — 

   — 
   1,962 

   
Stock-Based Compensation  

   — 
   — 

   — 
   1,238 

   — 
   — 

   1,238 
   

Excess tax benefit of stock based compensation  
   — 

   — 
   — 

   1,045 
   — 

   — 
   1,045 

   
Other  

   — 
   — 

   — 
   83 

   — 
   — 

   83 
   

                                 
Balance at March 30, 2007  

   16,371 
   $ 101,661 

   $ — 
   $ 15,000 

   $ 143,683 
   $ (313 ) $ 260,031 

   



KEYSTONE AUTOMOTIVE INDUSTRIES, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

(in thousands)  

   

See accompanying notes.  
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      Year Ended     
      March 30,  

2007     March 31,  
2006     April 1,  

2005     
Operating activities  

                     
Net income  

   $ 30,324 
   $ 22,258 

   $ 14,260 
   

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:  
                     

Depreciation and amortization  
   9,844 

   7,897 
   7,524 

   
Amortization of other intangibles  

   388 
   534 

   403 
   

Deferred taxes  
   (3,338 )  (954 )  234 

   
Loss on closures/impairment  

   — 
   — 

   174 
   

Provision for losses on uncollectible accounts  
   1,096 

   1,065 
   962 

   
Provision for write-down of inventories  

   1,374 
   2,975 

   2,949 
   

Stock based compensation  
   3,200 

   694 
   355 

   
Excess tax benefit from stock based compensation  

   (1,045 )  — 
   — 

   
(Loss) gain on sales of assets  

   (64 )  (75 )  73 
   

Tax benefit of stock options exercised  
   — 

   2,775 
   1,728 

   
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:  

                     
Accounts receivable  

   (9,457 )  (5,538 )  (6,278 ) 
Inventories  

   (6,688 )  (7,120 )  (14,823 ) 
Prepaid expenses and other assets  

   (1,356 )  (4,676 )  1,724 
   

Accounts payable  
   743 

   9,360 
   6,917 

   
Accrued salaries, wages and related benefits  

   2,609 
   1,459 

   (1,330 ) 
Other accrued liabilities  

   6,270 
   3,001 

   2,563 
   

Other, net  
   — 

   — 
   (59 ) 

                    
Net cash provided by operating activities  

   33,900 
   33,655 

   17,376 
   

Investing activities  
                     

Proceeds from sales of assets  
   205 

   402 
   766 

   
Acquisitions of certain distribution centers, net of cash received  

   (341 )  (37,185 )  (2,613 ) 
Insurance proceeds related to damaged property  

   1,223 
   — 

   — 
   

Purchases of property, plant and equipment  
   (13,381 )  (10,383 )  (8,375 ) 

                    
Net cash used in investing activities  

   (12,294 )  (47,166 )  (10,222 ) 
Financing activities  

                     
(Payments) borrowings under bank credit facility, net  

   (9,544 )  9,544 
   (10,000 ) 

Principal payments on long-term debt  
   — 

   (66 )  (28 ) 
Proceeds from stock option exercises  

   2,753 
   4,712 

   3,752 
   

Excess tax benefit from stock based compensation  
   1,045 

   — 
   — 

   
                    
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities  

   (5,746 )  14,190 
   (6,276 ) 

                    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  

   15,860 
   679 

   878 
   

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  
   4,733 

   4,054 
   3,176 

   
                    
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  

   $ 20,593 
   $ 4,733 

   $ 4,054 
   

                    
Supplemental disclosures:  

                     
Interest paid during the year  

   $ 330 
   $ 772 

   $ 274 
   

Income taxes paid during the year  
   19,259 

   11,926 
   6,513 

   
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash transactions:  

                     
Minimum pension liability adjustment  

   $ 446 
   $ (546 )  $ 334 

   
Property, plant and equipment purchased and included in accounts payable and other  

long-term liabilities  
   1,933 

   — 
   — 

   



KEYSTONE AUTOMOTIVE INDUSTRIES, INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

March 30, 2007  

   

Principles of Consolidation  

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Keystone Automotive Industries, Inc. (“Keystone”) and its 
wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  

Business Information  

The Company operates in one business segment. The principal business of the Company is the distribution of collision replacement parts 
for automobiles and light trucks to collision repair shops through a network of distribution centers located within the United States and Canada. 

The Company’s product offerings, comprised of more than 22,000 stock keeping units, may be divided into four primary categories: 
(i) the Company’s core business continues to be automotive body parts which consist primarily of fenders, hoods, headlight and taillight 
assemblies, radiators, condensers and grilles, (ii) the Company distributes new and remanufactured plastic bumper covers and steel bumpers 
manufactured by multiple domestic and foreign manufacturers, (iii) the Company distributes paint and other materials used in repairing a 
damaged vehicle primarily to repair shops and (iv) the Company distributes wheels and related products.  

Fiscal Year  

The Company uses a 52/53 week fiscal year. The Company’s fiscal year ends on a Friday, usually the Friday closest to the last day of 
March. The fiscal year ended April 1, 2005 included 53 weeks and the fiscal years ended March 30, 2007 and March 31, 2006 each included 52 
weeks.  

Accounting Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these 
estimates.  

Concentrations of Risk  

Accounts receivable subject the Company to a potential concentration of credit risk. Substantially all of the Company’s customers are in 
the auto body repair business, none representing more than 1% of sales. The Company performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers’ 
financial condition and generally does not require collateral. Receivables are generally due within 30 days. Credit losses have consistently been 
within management’s expectations.  

During 2007 and 2006, by dollar amount, the Company imported 59% and 56% of its products directly or indirectly from Asia, 
respectively.  

Fair Values of Financial Instruments  

Fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, credit facility and other short-term obligations 
approximate cost due to the short period of time to maturity.  
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1.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  



   

Cash Equivalents  

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash 
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are held by major financial institutions.  

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  

The Company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of its customers to make 
required payments. The Company adjusts its allowance monthly based upon a formula relating to the aging of its receivables. If the financial 
condition of the Company’s customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances 
may be required.  

Inventories  

The Company’s inventories consist primarily of automotive aftermarket collision replacement parts, paint and related items. Inventories 
are stated at the lower of cost (weighted-average method) or market.  

Long-Lived Assets  

The Company reviews the recoverability of its long-lived assets as required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 
No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. The estimated future cash flows are based upon, among other things, assumptions 
about expected future operating performance, and may differ from actual cash flows. Long-lived assets evaluated for impairment are grouped 
with other assets to the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets and 
liabilities. If the sum of the projected undiscounted cash flows (excluding interest) is less than the carrying value of the assets, the assets will be 
written down to the estimated fair value in the period in which the determination is made. The Company has determined that no impairment  of 
long-lived assets exists as of March 30, 2007.  

Depreciation and Amortization  

The Company uses the straight-line method for calculating depreciation and amortization of property, plant, and equipment over the 
following estimated useful lives:  

   

The Company capitalized approximately $0.9 million, $1.2 million and $2.5 million incurred during fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006 and fiscal 
2005, respectively, for the development of internal use computer software in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountant’s Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for the Cost of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use”.  

   

7  
 

 

Buildings  
   

20 years  
Machinery and equipment  

   
5-12 years  

Furniture and fixtures  
   

5-7 years  
Auto and truck  

   
3-5 years  

Computer hardware and software  
   

3-5 years  
Leasehold improvements  

   
Term of lease or life of the asset, whichever is shorter  



   

Goodwill and Other Intangibles  

The Company records goodwill as a result of acquisitions and analyzes its goodwill for impairment at least annually under SFAS 
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” The determination of the value of goodwill requires it to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect its consolidated financial statements. In assessing the recoverability of our goodwill, the Company must make assumptions regarding 
estimated future cash flows and other factors to determine fair value of the respective assets. If these estimates or their related assumptions 
change in the future, the Company may be required to record impairment charges for these assets. The Company performs goodwill impairment 
tests on an annual basis and between annual tests whenever events may indicate that an impairment exists.  

As of March 30, 2007, the Company had $39.6 million in goodwill that is subject to annual impairment tests. If the Company is required 
to recognize goodwill impairments in future periods, the Company would report those impairment losses as part of its operating results. The 
Company determined that no adjustments were necessary when it performed its annual impairment testing in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007, 
2006 and 2005, respectively.  

Other intangibles are comprised of covenants not to compete. Covenants not to compete are amortized using the straight-line method over 
the terms of the agreements, generally 5-10 years. Amortization expense for other intangibles for the years ended March 30, 2007, March 31, 
2006 and April 1, 2005 was $388,000, $531,000 and $403,000, respectively. As of March 30, 2007, the future amortization expense of other 
intangibles for each of the fiscal years from 2008 through 2012 is expected to be $303,000, $292,000, $267,000, $134,000, and $14,000, 
respectively.  

Leases and Leasehold Improvements  

The Company leases certain distribution centers, office space, equipment and vehicles. The Company has over 200 leases and no one 
lease is material to the operations of the Company. The Company accounts for its leases under the provisions of SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for 
Leases,” and subsequent amendments, which require that leases be evaluated and classified as operating leases or capital leases for financial 
reporting purposes. Certain leases contain rent escalation clauses, which are recorded on a straight-line basis over the initial term of the lease 
with the difference between the rent paid and the straight-line rent recorded as a deferred rent liability. Lease incentive payments received from 
landlords are recorded as deferred rent liabilities and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease term as a reduction in rent. In 
addition, leasehold improvements associated with these operating leases are amortized over the shorter of their economic lives or the respective 
lease terms. The term of each lease is generally the initial term of the lease unless external economic factors were to exist such that renewals 
potentially provided for in the establishing an amortization period and determining if such lease qualified as a capital or operating lease.  

Prior to fiscal 2005, the Company had been recording the actual rent expense for each year of the lease. As a result, the Company’s 2005 
statement of income includes an adjustment to correct its lease accounting of $0.7 million, net of tax, ($0.5 million, net of tax, related to fiscal 
years prior to 2005). As the correction relates solely to accounting treatment, it did not affect the Company’s historical or future cash flows.  
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Self-Insured Reserves  

The Company is self-insured for general and automobile liability, workers’ compensation and the health care claims of its team members, 
although the Company maintains stop-loss coverage with third-party insurers to limit its total liability exposure. A reserve for liabilities 
associated with these losses is established for claims filed and claims incurred but not yet reported based upon our estimate of ultimate cost, 
which is calculated using analyses of historical data and valuations provided by third-party actuaries. Management monitors new claims and 
claim development as well as negative trends related to the claims incurred but not reported in order to assess the adequacy of our insurance 
reserves. While the Company does not expect the amounts ultimately paid to differ significantly from its estimates, the Company’s self-
insurance reserves and corresponding selling, general and administrative expenses could be affected if future claim experience differs 
significantly from historical trends and actuarial assumptions.  

Revenue Recognition  

The Company recognizes revenue upon concluding that all of the fundamental criteria for product revenue recognition have been met. 
Such criteria are usually met at the time title passes to the customer, typically at the time of delivery or shipment. The costs related to shipping 
and handling fees are included in selling and distribution expenses. The Company provides its customers the right to return products that are 
damaged or defective. The effect of these programs is estimated and current period sales and costs of sales are reduced accordingly.  

Other Income  

The Company’s other income consists primarily of finance fees related to past-due customer accounts. During fiscal 2007, other income 
also included approximately $1.5 million related to insurance proceeds received from prior year property loss claims and proceeds received 
from the Company’s portion of an antitrust lawsuit concerning automotive refinishing paint pricing.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

Prior to April 1, 2006, the Company accounted for its stock-based compensation plans as prescribed by Accounting Principles Board, or 
APB, Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, or APB No. 25. Accordingly, the Company recorded no compensation 
cost in its statements of operations prior to fiscal 2007 for its fixed price stock option grants, as the exercise price equaled the fair market value 
of the underlying stock on the grant date.  

On April 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment,” or SFAS No. 123R. 
SFAS No. 123R replaces SFAS 123 and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25 and subsequently issued stock option related guidance. The Company 
elected to use the modified-prospective transition method of implementation. Under this transition method, stock-based compensation expense 
for fiscal 2007 included compensation expense for all stock-based awards granted subsequent to April 1, 2006 based on the grant-date fair 
value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123R, and compensation expense for all stock-based awards granted prior to 
but unvested as of April 1, 2006 based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123.  
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New Accounting Standards  

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.” SFAS 
No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. SFAS No. 159 is effective for 
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of SFAS No. 159.  

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 157, “Fair Value 
Measurements” (“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157 defined fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about 
fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company is currently in the process 
of evaluating the impact of SFAS 157 on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.  

In September 2006, the SEC released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements When 
Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements” (“SAB 108”). SAB 108 provides interpretive guidance on how public 
companies quantify financial statement misstatements, including misstatements that were not material to prior years’ financial statements. The 
Company adopted SAB 108 during its fiscal year ended March 30, 2007. The adoption of SAB 108 did not have a material impact on the 
Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  

In July 2006, the FASB issued FIN No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109.” 
FIN No. 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with SFAS 
No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” FIN No. 48 requires the enterprise to determine whether it is “more likely than not” that a tax 
position will be sustained upon examination by the appropriate taxing authorities before any part of the benefit can be recognized. Additionally, 
FIN No. 48 provides guidance on recognition measurement, derecognition, classification, related interest and penalties, accounting in interim 
periods, disclosure and transition. FIN No. 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company is currently 
assessing the impact of the adoption of FIN No. 48 on our results of operations and financial position.  

The Company acquired certain assets of A-1 Auto Paint and Supply, Inc., a distributor of automotive paint and supplies in Escanaba, 
Michigan in January 2007. This acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting and accordingly, the assets and 
liabilities of the acquired entity were recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of the acquisition. The results for fiscal 2007 and fiscal 
2006, assuming that the acquisition of A-1 Auto Paint and Supply, Inc. had been made at the beginning of fiscal 2006, would not have been 
materially different from the results presented.  

In October 2005, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Veng USA LLC, a distributor of aftermarket collision 
replacement parts in the Northeast. Veng USA LLC had locations in Seekonk and Woburn, Massachusetts; Manchester and Milford, 
Connecticut; Manchester, New Hampshire and Auburn, Maine. The Company acquired these companies for approximately $36.5 million in 
cash, net of cash received. This acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting and accordingly the assets and 
liabilities have been recorded at their estimated fair value as of the date of acquisition. The excess of purchase price over the estimated fair 
values of the assets acquired was approximately $27.4 million and has been recorded as goodwill.  
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2.  ACQUISITIONS  



   

The following table summarizes the amounts assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of the acquisition of Veng 
USA LLC:  

   

The following unaudited pro forma information presents the results of operations of the Company as if the acquisition of Veng USA LLC 
had taken place at the beginning of the applicable periods:  

   

In June 2005, the Company acquired certain assets of S&E Auto Panels, LLC, a distributor of aftermarket collision replacement parts in 
Dexter, Missouri. The results for fiscal 2006 and 2005, assuming that the acquisition of S&E Auto Panels, LLC had been made at the beginning 
of fiscal 2005, would not have been materially different from the results presented.  

During fiscal 2005, the Company acquired certain assets of Lincoln Bumper, Inc., a distributor of aftermarket collision replacement parts 
in Lincoln, Nebraska in June 2004 and of Royal Bumper Service, a recycler of plastic bumpers in Newberg, Oregon at the beginning of fiscal 
2005. In November 2004, the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Chambers Parts Distributors, a distributor of after 
marked collision replacement parts with locations in Bangor, Manchester and Portland, Maine. The Company acquired these companies for 
approximately $2.6 million in cash, net of cash received. All of these acquisitions were accounted for under the purchase method of accounting 
and accordingly, the assets and liabilities of the acquired entities have been recorded at their estimated fair value at the dates of acquisition. The 
excess of purchase price over the estimated fair values of the assets acquired was approximately $1.6 million and has been recorded as 
goodwill. The results for fiscal 2005, assuming that this acquisition had been made at the beginning of fiscal 2005, would not have been 
materially different from the results presented.  

The consolidated financial statements include the results of operations for each business for all periods subsequent to the applicable 
purchase date.  

   

11  
 

 

   October 2005     
      (in thousands)    

Receivables  
   $ 2,582 

   
Inventories  

   4,412 
   

Other current assets  
   209 

   
Property and equipment  

   1,372 
   

Goodwill  
   27,372 

   
Other intangibles  

   925 
   

           
Total assets acquired  

   $ 36,872 
   

Other accrued liabilities  
   (372 ) 

           
Net assets acquired  

   $ 36,500 
   

   March 31, 2006     

      
(in thousands, except per 

 
share amounts)     

Net sales  
   $ 648,605 

   
Net income  

   22,840 
   

Earnings per diluted share  
   $ 1.42 

   



   

   

The Company has in place a $75.0 million revolving secured line of credit with commercial lenders that matures on October 14, 2010. 
The Company has the option to expand the credit facility to $100.0 million. Advances under the revolving line of credit bear interest either at 
LIBOR plus 0.75% or at the lender’s prime rate. At March 30, 2007, no monies had been drawn down under the line of credit. The line of 
credit is subject to certain restrictive covenants set forth in the loan agreement, which requires that the Company maintain certain financial 
ratios. The Company was in compliance with all such covenants at March 30, 2007. The Company has outstanding lines of credit in the 
aggregate amount of $12.6 million issued to its primary insurers to secure the Company’s deductible reimbursement obligations. The amount of 
these letters of credit reduces the funds available under the Company’s credit facility. At June 1, 2007, $62.4 million was available to the 
Company under the line of credit.  

   

The Company maintains a stock repurchase plan as authorized by the Board of Directors, which at March 30, 2007, authorized the 
purchase of up to $4.1 million of its common stock at such times and at such prices as the President and Chief Financial Officer deemed 
appropriate. Repurchased shares were redeemed and treated as authorized but unissued shares. Since the inception of the plan, the Company 
has repurchased approximately 3.5 million shares for approximately $45.8 million, an average of $13.01 per share. No shares were repurchased 
during fiscal 2007, 2006 or 2005.  

The Company may pay dividends at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The Company has never paid dividends.  

   

The Company calculates basic and diluted earnings per share as required by SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share.” Basic earnings per 
share excludes any dilutive effects of options and unvested full-value shares. Diluted earnings per share is calculated including the dilutive 
effects of options and unvested full-value shares, if any. The income from continuing operations is used as the numerator to determine whether 
potential common shares are dilutive or antidilutive. The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:  
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3.  FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS  

4.  SHAREHOLDERS’  EQUITY  

5.  EARNINGS PER SHARE  

      Year Ended     
      March 30,  

2007     March 31,  
2006     April 1,  

2005     
      (in thousands, except   

per share amounts)     
Numerator:  

                     
Net income  

   $ 30,324 
   $ 22,258 

   $ 14,260 
   

                    
Denominator:  

                     
Denominator for basic earnings per share—weighted average shares  

   16,276 
   16,000 

   15,642 
   

Effective of dilutive securities:  
                     

Employee stock options and unvested full-value shares  
   174 

   95 
   145 

   
                    

Denominator for dilutive earnings per share—adjusted weighted average  
shares and assumed conversions  

   16,450 
   16,095 

   15,787 
   

                    
Basic earnings per share  

   $ 1.86 
   $ 1.39 

   $ .91 
   

                    
Diluted earnings per share  

   $ 1.84 
   $ 1.38 

   $ .90 
   



   

There were no antidilutive stock options nor unvested full-value shares for the fiscal years ended March 30, 2007 and March 31, 2006, 
and 110,000 antidilutive options for fiscal year ended April 1, 2005.  

   

The Company has entered into various property lease agreements with related parties, including certain of the Company’s officers and 
agreements with a corporation and an LLC which is owned by a family member of a Company officer. The leases contain terms up to 5 years. 
The Company believes that the terms and conditions of such leases with affiliated parties are no less favorable than could have been obtained 
from unaffiliated parties in arm’s length transactions at the time such leases were entered into. Rent expense for related party lease agreements, 
included in the total rent expense, amounted to $910,000, $629,000 and $478,000 for the fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, 
exclusive of the Company’s obligation for property taxes and insurance.  

   

   

   

The liability method is used in accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on 
differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities. The provision for income taxes reflects the taxes to be paid for 
the period and the change during the period in the deferred tax assets and liabilities. Undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign 
subsidiaries are considered to be indefinitely reinvested. As such, no U.S. federal and state income taxes have been provided thereon.  
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6.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

7.  SALES BY PRODUCT  

   Fiscal Year Ended     

      
March 30, 

 
2007     

March 31, 
 

2006     April 1,  
2005     

      (in thousands)     
Automotive body parts(1)  

   $ 378.2 
   $ 322.9 

   $ 284.3 
   

Bumpers  
   214.5 

   188.3 
   164.5 

   
Paint and related materials  

   62.2 
   60.7 

   59.9 
   

Wheels and related products  
   56.2 

   52.7 
   43.3 

   
Other  

   2.9 
   3.7 

   5.7 
   

                    
Total Sales  

   $ 714.0 
   $ 628.3 

   $ 557.7 
   

(1)  Consists primarily of fenders, hoods, headlights and taillight assemblies, radiators, condensers and grilles.  

8.  INCOME TAXES  



   

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax liabilities and assets are as follows:  

   

The Company’s deferred tax asset and the related valuation allowance for a net capital loss carryforward as a result of the 2002 write-off 
of its investment in an Internet company was written-off in 2007 due to the expiration of the net capital loss carryforward. A valuation 
allowance was recorded in 2007 related to a net capital loss incurred from the sale of the Company’s Mexican subsidiary in 2006.  

Significant components of the provision for income taxes are as follows:  
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March 30, 

 
2007     

March 31, 
 

2006     
      (in thousands)     

Deferred tax assets:  
               

Inventories  
   $ 4,938 

   $ 4,643 
   

Intangibles  
   2,546 

   3,979 
   

Accrued expenses  
   7,944 

   5,084 
   

Stock Based Compensation  
   803 

   236 
   

Other  
   520 

   75 
   

                
Total deferred tax assets  

   16,751 
   14,017 

   
Valuation allowance  

   (15 )  (382 ) 
                
   

   16,736 
   13,635 

   
Deferred tax liabilities:  

               
Prepaid expenses  

   (818 )  (868 ) 
Excess of book basis over tax basis of property and equipment  

   (1,987 )  (2,174 ) 
                

Total deferred tax liabilities  
   (2,805 )  (3,042 ) 

                
Net deferred tax assets  

   $ 13,931 
   $ 10,593 

   

   Year ended     
      March 30,  

2007     March 31,  
2006     April 1,  

2005     
      (in thousands)     

Current:  
                     

Federal  
   $20,374 

   $13,783 
   $8,214 

   
State  

   2,066 
   1,544 

   805 
   

Foreign  
   842 

   411 
   70 

   
                    
   

   23,281 
   15,738 

   9,089 
   

Deferred:  
                     

Federal  
   (2,967 )  (878 )  86 

   
State  

   (301 )  (98 )  8 
   

Foreign  
   (70 )  22 

   113 
   

                    
   

   (3,338 )  (954 )  207 
   

                    
   

   $19,943 
   $14,784 

   $9,296 
   



   

The reconciliation of income taxes at the U.S. federal statutory tax rate to reported income tax expense is as follows:  

   

   

As of March 30, 2007, the Company adopted the provision requiring recognition of the funded status of a benefit plan and disclosure of 
additional information under SFAS No. 158. SFAS No. 158 amended SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pension,” which required 
entities to report at least a minimum pension liability, measured as the excess of the accumulated benefit obligation over the fair value of the 
plan assets. SFAS No. 158 required the Company to recognize the funded status of its postretirement plans in its consolidated balance sheet at 
March 30, 2007 with a corresponding adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive income or loss, net of tax. The funded status amount to 
be recognized by SFAS No. 158 is measured as the difference between the fair value of plan assets and the plan’s benefit obligation. This 
difference includes all unrecognized actuarial gain and losses, prior service cost and any remaining transition amounts that were not recognized 
previously in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. SFAS No. 158 does not change the components of net periodic benefit cost and 
therefore, the adoption of SFAS No. 158 had no effect on the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for 2007 or for any of the prior 
periods and future periods. The difference mentioned above will be subsequently recognized as net periodic benefit costs pursuant to the 
Company’s historical accounting policy for amortizing such amounts.  

Items deferred under SFAS No. 87 are now recognized as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of all applicable 
taxes.  

Defined benefit plans  

The Company suspended its defined benefit pension plan (the Plan) effective January 1, 1997. Plan benefits are based on an employee’s 
years of service and the compensation during the five years of employment which would yield the highest average compensation.  

The incremental effect of applying SFAS No. 158 related to this plan on individual line items in the Company’s consolidated balance 
sheet at March 30, 2007 is as follows (amounts in thousands):  
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   Year ended     

      
March 30, 

 
2007     

March 31, 
 

2006     April 1,  
2005     

      (in thousands)     
Income taxes at statutory tax rate  

   $ 17,593 
   $ 12,965 

   $ 8,245 
   

State income taxes, net of federal tax effect  
   1,709 

   1,404 
   787 

   
Non-deductible expenses  

   410 
   215 

   180 
   

Rate change and other  
   216 

   195 
   85 

   
Valuation allowance  

   15 
   5 

   (1 ) 
                     
   

   $ 19,943 
   $ 14,784 

   $ 9,296 
   

9.  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS  

   
Before Adoption of 

 
SFAS No. 158     Effect of Adopting  

SFAS No. 158     After Adoption of  
SFAS No. 158     

Prepaid pension cost  
   $ 1,604 

   $ — 
   $ 1,604 

   
Additional liability  

   1,869 
   (1,869 )  — 

   
Accrued pension benefit liability  

   (265 )  — 
   (265 ) 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss  
   1,869 

   — 
   1,869 

   



   

The net periodic pension cost for all the Company’s benefit plans was as follow:  

   

The estimated net loss for the plan expected to be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost 
over the next fiscal year is $136,000.  

The following is a summary of the status of the funding of the plans:  
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   Pension Benefits     

      
March 30, 

 
2007     

March 31, 
 

2006     April 1,  
2005     

      (in thousands)     
Service cost  

   $ 110 
   $ 120 

   $ 118 
   

Interest cost  
   277 

   293 
   316 

   
Recognized losses  

   114 
   580 

   427 
   

Expected return on assets  
   (389 )  (349 )  (344 ) 

                     
   

   $ 112 
   $ 644 

   $ 517 
   

   Pension Benefits     

      
March 30, 

 
2007     

March 31, 
 

2006     
      (in thousands)     

Change in benefit obligation:  
               

Benefit obligation at beginning of year  
   $ 5,455 

   $ 5,510 
   

Service cost  
   110 

   120 
   

Interest cost  
   277 

   293 
   

Actuarial (gains) losses  
   (242 )  417 

   
Benefits paid  

   (390 )  (885 ) 
                

Benefit obligation at end of year  
   $ 5,210 

   $ 5,455 
   

                
Change in plan assets:  

               
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  

   $ 5,278 
   $ 4,210 

   
Actual return on plan assets  

   57 
   1,081 

   
Company contributions  

   — 
   872 

   
Benefits paid  

   (390 )  (885 ) 
                

Fair value of plan assets at end of year  
   $ 4,945 

   $ 5,278 
   

                
Funded status:  

               
Funded status of the plan (underfunded)  

   $ (265 )  $ (177 ) 
Unrecognized net actuarial losses  

   1,869 
   1,144 

   
                

Net amount recognized  
   $ 1,604 

   $ 967 
   

                
Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position:  

               
Accrued benefit liability  

   $ (265 )  $ (177 ) 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  

   1,869 
   1,144 

   
                

Net amount recognized  
   $ 1,604 

   $ 967 
   



   

The weighted-average asset allocations of the Company’s defined benefit plan at March 30, 2007 and March 31, 2006 by asset category, 
are as follows:  

   

The above asset allocations are above the Company’s target asset allocation ranges, which are as follows: equity securities 70% to 90%, 
debt securities 0% to 20% and other securities of 0% to 10%. At March 30, 2007 and March 31, 2006, the plan held 31,200 shares of common 
stock of the Company with a market value of $1,051,000 and $1,317,000, respectively.  

The following is a summary of benefit payments expected to be paid during the fiscal year ending in:  

   

The Company’s contribution for Company-sponsored retirement plans was as follows:  

   

In determining the actuarial present value of projected benefit obligations at March 30, 2007 and March 31, 2006, a discount rate of 
5.75% and 5.50%, respectively, was used. There are no future compensation increases due to the suspension of benefit accruals. The expected 
long-term annual rate of return on assets was 8% for the year ended March 30, 2007 and March 31, 2006. The Company does not expect to 
make any contribution to the defined benefit plan during fiscal year 2008.  
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   Fiscal year ended        
      March 30,  

2007     March 31,  
2006        

Plan Assets:  
                  

Equity securities  
   97 %  95 %  

   
Debt securities  

   — %  4 %  
   

Other  
   3 %  1 %  

   
                  

Total  
   100 %  100 %  

   

   Defined  
Benefit Plan     

      (In thousands)    
2008  

   $ 326 
   

2009  
   306 

   
2010  

   301 
   

2011  
   296 

   
2012  

   303 
   

2013 – 2017  
   1,494 

   
          
Total  

   $ 3,026 
   

   Fiscal year ended     

      
March 30, 

 
2007     

March 31, 
 

2006     April 1,  
2005     

401(k) Plan  
   $ 1,860 

   $ 1,523 
   $ 1,505 

   
Defined Benefit Plan  

   — 
   872 

   1,068 
   

                    
Total  

   $ 1,860 
   $ 2,395 

   $ 2,573 
   



   

401(k) Plan  

The Company maintains a 401(k) plan, as amended, that covers substantially all of its employees. Employees who have completed more 
than one year of service are eligible and may contribute from 1% to 50% of their base pay. The Company matches 50% of the first 6% of 
employee contributions. Employee contributions vest immediately, while employer contributions vest based on years of service.  

   

The Company adopted its 2005 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2005 Plan”) in August 2005, pursuant to which awards of nonqualified 
stock options, service-based shares and performance-based shares have been made. The 2005 Plan replaced the Company’s 1996 Employee 
Stock Incentive Plan (the “1996 Plan”). The 2005 Plan as adopted authorized the issuance of up to 1,850,000 shares plus shares awarded under 
the 1996 Plan to the extent outstanding awards are forfeited, expire or otherwise terminate without the issuance of shares. As of March 30, 
2007, approximately 1.3 million shares remained available for grant under the 2005 Plan. Of the share authorization under the 2005 Plan, an 
aggregate of 740,000 full-value shares may be awarded and at March 30, 2007, 508,484 shares remain available for grant as full-value awards 
(service-based and performance-based shares.)  

Prior to April 1, 2006, the Company accounted for its stock-based compensation plans as prescribed by Accounting Principles Board, or 
APB, Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” or APB No. 25. Accordingly, the Company recorded no compensation 
cost in its statements of income prior to fiscal 2007 for its fixed price stock option grants as the exercise price equaled the fair market value of 
the underlying stock on the grant date.  

On April 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment,” or SFAS No. 123(R). 
SFAS No. 123(R) replaces SFAS No. 123 and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25 and subsequently issued stock option related guidance. The 
Company elected to use the modified-prospective transition method of implementation. Under this transition method, stock-based 
compensation expense for fiscal 2007 included compensation expense for all stock-based awards granted subsequent to April 1, 2006 based on 
the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), and compensation expense for all stock-based 
awards granted prior to but unvested as of April 1, 2006 based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions 
of SFAS No. 123.  

The Company used the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to value all options and the straight-line method to amortize this fair value as 
compensation cost over the requisite service period. Total stock option compensation expense included in general and administrative expenses 
in the Company’s statement of income for fiscal 2007 was $1.2 million. The related income tax benefit was $0.5 million. The Company did not 
record any stock option compensation expense for fiscal 2006 and 2005. In accordance with the modified-prospective transition method of 
SFAS No. 123(R), the Company has not restated prior periods.  

As a result of adopting SFAS No. 123(R) on April 1, 2006, the Company’s earnings before income tax expense and net earnings for fiscal 
2007, was $1.2 million and $0.7 million lower, respectively, than if the Company had continued to account for stock-based compensation under 
APB No. 25. The related impact to basic and diluted earnings per share for fiscal 2007 was approximately $0.05 per share.  

Prior to adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company reported all income tax benefits resulting from the exercise of stock options as 
operating cash inflows in its consolidated statements of cash flow. In accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), the Company revised its statement of 
cash flows presentation to include the excess tax  
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10.  STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS  



   

benefits from the exercise of stock options as financing cash inflows rather than operating cash inflows. Accordingly, for fiscal 2007, the 
Company reported $1.0 million of excess tax benefits as a financing cash inflow.  

The following table reflects the impact on net income and earnings per share as if the Company had applied the fair value based method 
of recognizing stock-based compensation costs as prescribed by SFAS No. 123 as amended by SFAS No. 148 for fiscal years 2006 and 2005.  

   

The following table summarizes the fixed price stock option transactions as of March 30, 2007:  

   

The aggregate intrinsic value in the preceding table is based on the Company’s closing stock price of $33.70 as of the last trading day of 
the period ended March 30, 2007. The aggregate intrinsic value of options (the amount by which the market price of the stock on the date of 
exercise exceeded the exercise price of the option) exercised during fiscal years ended March 30, 2007, March 31, 2006 and April 1, 2005 was 
$2.9 million, $7.8 million and $4.6 million, respectively. As of March 30, 2007, there was $3.8 million of unrecognized compensation expense 
related to non-vested fixed price stock options that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.5 years.  
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      Year Ended March 31,  
2006     Year Ended April 1,  

2005     
      (in thousands, except per share amount)     

Pro forma:  
               

Net income—as reported  
   $ 22,258 

   $ 14,260 
   

Add: Stock-based compensation as reported in net income  
   418 

   216 
   

Less: Fair value stock-based compensation  
   (937 )  (604 ) 

               
Net income—pro forma  

   $ 21,739 
   $ 13,872 

   
               
Net income per share—as reported:  

               
Basic  

   $ 1.39 
   $ 0.91 

   
               

Diluted  
   $ 1.38 

   $ 0.90 
   

               
Net income per share—pro forma:  

               
Basic  

   $ 1.36 
   $ 0.89 

   
               
Diluted  

   $ 1.35 
   $ 0.88 

   

      Number of Options     Weighted-Average  
Exercise Price     

Weighted-Average  
Remaining  

Contractual Term  
(in years)     

Aggregate Intrinsic  
Value  

(in thousands)     
Fixed Price Options  

                           
Outstanding at beginning of year  

   515,256 
   $ 20.15 

               
Granted  

   217,315 
   35.94 

               
Exercised  

   (154,067 )  17.87 
               

Forfeited  
   (21,468 )  25.00 

               
                         
Outstanding at March 30, 2007  

   557,036 
   $ 26.75 

   7.45 
   $ 4,437 

   
                         
Exercisable at March 30, 2007  

   178,440 
   $ 17.88 

   5.14 
   $ 2,822 

   



   

The fair value of stock options granted during fiscal years ended March 30, 2007, March 31, 2006 and April 1, 2005 was $16.21 per 
share, $8.84 per share and $6.11 per share, respectively. The fair value of each stock option was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:  

   

The Company’s full value service-based share awards have a vesting period of one to four years. Compensation expense, representing the 
fair market value of the shares at the date of grant, net of assumptions regarding estimated future forfeitures, are charged to earnings over the 
vesting period. Compensation expense included in general and administrative expenses in the Company’s statement of income, relating to these 
share grants for fiscal years ended March 30, 2007, March 31, 2006 and April 1, 2005 was $1.3 million and $0.7 million and $0.4 million, 
respectively.  

The following table summarizes the full value service-based stock transactions for fiscal year ended March 30, 2007:  

   

The Company’s performance-based share awards entitle participants to acquire shares of Common Stock upon the attainment of specific 
performance goals over a fixed performance period. Compensation expense, representing the fair market value of the shares at the date of the 
grant, net of assumptions regarding future forfeitures and the likelihood that the performance targets will be attained, is charged to earnings 
over the performance period. Compensation expense of $0.7 million was recognized for fiscal year ended March 30, 2007 and was included in 
general and administrative expenses in the Company’s statement of operations for the period. There was no compensation expense relating to 
the share grants incurred for fiscal years ended March 31, 2006 and April 1, 2005.  
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March 30, 

 
2007     

March 30, 
 

2006     April 1,  
2005        

Black-Scholes Option Valuation Assumptions  
                        

Risk free interest rate(1)  
   5.03 %  4.46 %  4.55 %  

   
Expected life in years(2)  

   5.25 %  4.00 %  4.00 %  
   

Expected volatility(3)  
   41.59 %  40.64 %  39.52 %  

   
Expected dividend yield  

   0 %  0 %  0 %  
   

(1)  The risk-free interest rate is based on a U.S. Treasury constant maturity interest rate whose term is consistent with the expected life of the 
Company’s stock options.  

(2)  The expected life of the Company’s stock options represents the estimated period of time until exercise and is based on historical 
experience of such awards.  

(3)  Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock for the period consistent with the life of the 
Company’s stock options.  

   Number of  
Shares     

Weighted-Average 
 

Grant Date Fair  
Value     

Shares of Service-Based Stock:  
               

Outstanding at April 1, 2006  
   58,522 

   $ 27.63 
   

Granted  
   73,493 

   37.62 
   

Vested  
   (6,522 )  27.53 

   
Forfeited  

   (5,365 )  30.65 
   

                
Outstanding at March 30, 2007  

   120,128 
   $ 32.95 

   



   

The following table summarizes the performance-based share transactions for fiscal years ended March 30, 2007:  

   

As of March 30, 2007, there was $5.7 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to service-based and performance-based 
shares that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.5 years.  

   

The Company leases substantially all of its property and a portion of its plant and equipment. Certain of the leases contained renewal 
options from two to five years.  

Future minimum lease payments, under non-cancelable operating leases with initial terms of one year or more, are approximately as 
follows at March 30, 2007:  

   

Total rent expense amounted to approximately $24,858,000, $22,773,000 and $20,881,000 for fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, 
exclusive of the Company’s obligation for property taxes and insurance.  

On December 2, 2005, Ford Global Technologies, LLC (“Ford”) filed a complaint with the United States International Trade 
Commission (“USITC”) against the Company and five other named Respondents, including four Taiwan-based manufacturers. On 
December 12, 2005, Ford filed an Amended Complaint. Both the Complaint and the Amended Complaint charge the Company and the other 
Respondents with infringement of 14 design  
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   Number of  
Shares     

Weighted-Average 
 

Grant Date Fair  
Value     

Shares of Performance-Based Stock:  
               

Outstanding at April 1, 2006  
   — 

   — 
   

Granted(1)  
   108,840 

   $ 35.94 
   

Forfeited  
   (4,174 )  35.94 

   
Earned  

   — 
   — 

   
                
Outstanding at March 30, 2007  

   104,666 
   $ 35.94 

   

(1)  Under the grant, from zero to 108,840 shares may be earned, with the target performance resulting in the issuance of 54,420 shares. For 
compensation expense purposes, the Company assumed a range of 163% to 187% of the target performance would be met with no 
forfeitures, which range has been determined based on the Company’s current forecasted estimate to target.  

11.  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

   Related Party  
Leases     Other     

Total Operating 
 

Leases     
      (in thousands)     

2008  
   $ 572 

   $ 20,572 
   $ 21,144 

   
2009  

   575 
   16,879 

   17,454 
   

2010  
   201 

   13,129 
   13,330 

   
2011  

   63 
   9,687 

   9,750 
   

2012  
   — 

   7,544 
   7,544 

   
Thereafter  

   — 
   28,010 

   28,010 
   

                    
Total minimum rental payments  

   $ 1,411 
   $ 95,821 

   $ 97,232 
   



   

patents that Ford alleges cover eight parts on the 2004-2005 Ford F-150 truck (the “Ford Design Patents”). Ford asked the USITC to issue a 
permanent general exclusion order excluding from entry into the United States all automotive parts that infringe the Ford Design Patents and 
that are imported into the United States, sold for importation in the United States, or sold within the United States after importation. Ford also 
sought a permanent order directing the Company and the other Respondents to cease and desist from, among other things, selling, marketing, 
advertising, distributing and offering for sale imported automotive parts that infringe the Ford Design Patents. On December 28, 2005, the 
USITC issued a Notice of Investigation based on Ford’s Amended Complaint. The USITC’s Notice of Investigation was published in the 
Federal Register on January 4, 2006.  

On January 23, 2006, the Company filed its Response to the Complaint and Notice of Investigation. In the Response, the Company 
denied, among other things, that any of the Ford Design Patents is valid and/or enforceable and, accordingly, denied each and every allegation 
of infringement. The Company further asserted several affirmative defenses, any of which, if successful, would preclude the USITC from 
granting any of Ford’s requested relief. In interlocutory rulings, the Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) struck the Company’s affirmative 
defenses of patent exhaustion, permissible repair, license and patent misuse and the Company’s affirmative defense that each of the patents is 
invalid for failure to comply with the ornamentality requirement of 35 U.S.C.§171. Additionally, the ALJ granted Ford’s request to drop four 
patents from the investigation. A hearing before the ALJ took place the last week of August 2006.  

On December 4, 2006, the ALJ issued an Initial Determination upholding seven of Ford’s design patents and declaring the remaining 
three design patents to be invalid. Both Ford and the Company petitioned the Commission to review and set aside portions of the ALJ’s Initial 
Determination. The Company’s petition also sought review of the ALJ’s interlocutory rulings concerning certain of its affirmative defenses. On 
March 20, 2007, the USITC decided not to review the ALJ’s Initial Determination. Initially, the USITC determined that it would render its 
order on remedy, bonding, and public policy on May 4, 2007. However, on April 30, 2007, the United States Supreme Court decided the case 
of KSR International Co. v. Teleflex Inc., which addressed claims of obviousness in patent law and which may have potential implications 
relative to the Respondent’s case before the USITC. The Respondents filed a petition for reconsideration with the USITC on May 1, 2007 
based on the decision in the KSR case. On May 4, 2007, the USITC extended the deadline for rendering its order on remedy, bonding, and 
public policy until June 6, 2007, so that it could review its decision not to review the ALJ’s Initial Determination in light of the KSR case.  

On June 6, 2007, the USITC issued its Notice of Final Determination. The Notice of Final Determination denied Respondent’s petition 
for reconsideration and their motion for leave to supplement their petition. In addition, the USITC issued a general exclusion order prohibiting 
the importation of certain automotive parts found to infringe the seven Ford design patents found valid. Unless the President of the United 
States disapproves the general exclusion order within the 60-day period immediately following entry of the remedial order, the USITC’s 
decision finding a violation of Section 337 will become final on August 6, 2007, at which time the Respondents will have the opportunity to 
file an appeal with the United States Federal Circuit Court of Appeals. In the Notice of Final Determination, the USITC set the bond for 
importation of the parts during the 60-day Presidential review period at 100% of the entered value of the parts. In addition, on May 18, 2007, 
Ford filed a Notice of Appeal with the United States Federal Circuit Court of Appeals with regard to the three patents declared invalid in the 
ALJ’s Initial Determination. The Respondents expect to intervene in the appeal in support of the USITC and the ALJ’s decision finding three 
of Ford’s patents invalid.  

The Company will continue to defend this action vigorously. To date, the Company’s sales of these parts have been minimal, but as the 
design for the 2004 model is incorporated into later year models of the F-150 and these trucks have been on the road longer, the sale of 
aftermarket replacement parts will increase substantially. If  
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the 10 design patents in question are ultimately upheld on appeal as valid and infringed, it is not anticipated that the loss of sales of these parts 
over time would be materially adverse to the financial condition or results of operations of the Company. However, depending upon the nature 
and extent of any adverse ruling, other car manufacturers may attempt to assert similar allegations based upon design patents on a significant 
number of parts for several of its models, which over time could have a material adverse impact on the entire aftermarket parts industry.  

On December 1, 2006, MQVP, Inc. (“MQVP”) filed a lawsuit against the Company in the Federal Bankruptcy Court in Detroit, 
Michigan. MQVP, an independent validator of certain alternative collision replacement parts sold by qualified distributors such as the 
Company, filed for protection under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in August 2006. MQVP alleges that the Company distributed non-
MQVP approved parts, used the “MQVP” service mark without MQVP’s permission, and traded on the goodwill of MQVP and its service 
mark in a way that confused the public. Based on these allegations, MQVP is seeking at least $20 million in damages and equitable relief based 
on several claims (including false designation of origin, false advertising, unfair competition, breach of contract, and interference with business 
expectancy). The Company has denied the allegations in MQVP’s complaint and brought its own claims against MQVP for breach of contract, 
unjust enrichment, and cancellation of the “MQVP” service mark. The case is now in the discovery stage, with both parties having submitted 
discovery requests to the other. In addition, the Company has joined with Results System Corporation, a secured lender of MQVP, to submit a 
plan of reorganization in the bankruptcy proceeding. Based on the Company’s evaluation of this lawsuit to date, the Company does not believe 
it has any liability to MQVP; however, should any liability be determined, the Company does not believe that it would have a material adverse 
impact on its financial position.  

The Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary course of its business. Although occasional adverse 
decisions or settlements may occur, the Company believes that the final disposition of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on 
the financial position, results of operations or cash flow of the Company.  
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The following is a summary of the quarterly results of operations for the years ended March 30, 2007 and March 31, 2006.  

   

   

Quarterly and year-to-date computations of per share amounts are made independently. Therefore, the sum of per share amounts for the 
quarters may not agree with per share amounts for the year shown elsewhere.  
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12.  QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)  

      Quarter Ended     
      June 30     September 29     December 29     March 30     
      (In thousands, except per share amounts)     

2007:  
                           

Net sales  
   $ 167,673 

   $ 160,833 
   $ 185,263 

   $ 200,186 
   

Gross profit  
   74,068 

   70,126 
   83,844 

   90,579 
   

Net income  
   6,099 

   3,404 
   9,392 

   11,429 
   

Per Common Share:  
                           

                         
Net income per share:  

                           
Basic  

   $ 0.38 
   $ 0.21 

   $ 0.58 
   $ 0.70 

   
Diluted  

   $ 0.37 
   $ 0.21 

   $ 0.57 
   $ 0.69 

   

      Quarter Ended     
      July 1     September 30     December 30     March 31     
      (In thousands, except per share amounts)     

2006:  
                           

Net sales  
   $ 144,781 

   $ 139,221 
   $ 164,387 

   $ 179,939 
   

Gross profit  
   64,153 

   61,544 
   74,244 

   82,025 
   

Net income  
   4,722 

   2,865 
   7,108 

   7,563 
   

Per Common Share:  
                           

                         
Net income per share:  

                           
Basic  

   $ 0.30 
   $ 0.18 

   $ 0.44 
   $ 0.47 

   
Diluted  

   $ 0.30 
   $ 0.18 

   $ 0.44 
   $ 0.46 

   



   

Keystone Automotive Industries, Inc.  
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets  

(In thousands)  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.  
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      June 29, 2007     March 30, 2007     
      (Unaudited)     (Note)     

ASSETS  
               

Current Assets:  
               

Cash and cash equivalents  
   $ 20,350 

   $ 20,593 
   

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $998 at June 2007 and $843 at March 2007  
   60,090 

   65,154 
   

Inventories, primarily finished goods  
   144,388 

   133,877 
   

Other current assets  
   16,915 

   19,075 
   

               
Total current assets  

   241,743 
   238,699 

   
Plant, property and equipment, net  

   39,076 
   39,056 

   
Goodwill  

   43,087 
   39,568 

   
Other intangibles, net of accumulated amortization of $2,013 at June 2007 and $1,932 at March 2007  

   1,036 
   1,017 

   
Other assets  

   9,927 
   8,640 

   
               

Total assets  
   $ 334,869 

   $ 326,980 
   

               
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

               
Current Liabilities:  

               
Accounts payable  

   $ 29,152 
   $ 36,053 

   
Accrued liabilities  

   30,450 
   27,209 

   
               

Total current liabilities  
   59,602 

   63,262 
   

Other long-term liabilities  
   6,148 

   3,687 
   

Commitments and contingencies  
   — 

   — 
   

               
Shareholders’  Equity:  

               
Preferred stock, no par value:  

               
Authorized shares—3,000  

               
None issued and outstanding  

   — 
   — 

   
               

Common stock, no par value:  
               

Authorized shares—50,000  
               

Issued and outstanding shares 16,414 at June 2007 and 16,371 at March 2007  
   102,730 

   101,661 
   

               
Additional paid-in capital  

   15,832 
   15,000 

   
Retained earnings  

   150,340 
   143,683 

   
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  

   217 
   (313 ) 

               
Total shareholders’ equity  

   269,119 
   260,031 

   
               
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  

   $ 334,869 
   $ 326,980 

   

NOTE:  The balance sheet at March 30, 2007, has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements at that date but does not 
include all of the information and footnotes required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States for complete 
financial statements.  



Keystone Automotive Industries, Inc.  
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income  

(In thousands, except per share amounts)  
(Unaudited)  

   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.  
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Thirteen  

Weeks Ended  
June 29, 2007     

Thirteen  
Weeks Ended  
June 30, 2006     

Net sales  
   $ 180,678 

   $ 167,673 
   

Cost of sales  
   99,340 

   93,605 
   

               
Gross profit  

   81,338 
   74,068 

   
Operating expenses:  

               
Selling and distribution  

   49,959 
   48,428 

   
General and administrative  

   19,800 
   15,593 

   
               

Total operating expenses  
   69,759 

   64,021 
   

               
Operating income  

   11,579 
   10,047 

   
Other income  

   571 
   330 

   
Interest expense  

   (1 )  (186 ) 
               
Income before income taxes  

   12,149 
   10,191 

   
Income taxes  

   4,784 
   4,092 

   
               
Net income  

   $ 7,365 
   $ 6,099 

   
               
Per Common Share:  

               
Net income per share:  

               
Basic  

   $ 0.45 
   $ 0.38 

   
               
Diluted  

   $ 0.44 
   $ 0.37 

   
               

Weighted average common shares outstanding:  
               

Basic  
   16,389 

   16,196 
   

               
Diluted  

   16,589 
   16,407 

   



Keystone Automotive Industries, Inc.  
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  

(In thousands)  
(Unaudited)  

   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.  
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Thirteen  

Weeks Ended  
June 29, 2007     

Thirteen  
Weeks Ended  
June 30, 2006     

Operating activities:  
               

Net income  
   $ 7,365 

   $ 6,099 
   

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:  
               

Depreciation and amortization  
   2,924 

   2,372 
   

Provision for losses on uncollectible accounts  
   277 

   177 
   

Provision for write-down of inventories  
   579 

   550 
   

Stock based compensation  
   927 

   558 
   

Excess tax benefit from stock based compensation  
   (315 )  (392 ) 

Gain on sale of assets, net  
   (54 )  (36 ) 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:  
               

Accounts receivable  
   4,968 

   1,107 
   

Inventories  
   (10,703 )  1,799 

   
Other assets  

   2,206 
   2,165 

   
Accounts payable  

   (7,158 )  (8,605 ) 
Accrued liabilities  

   4,507 
   5,739 

   
               
Net cash provided by operating activities  

   5,523 
   11,533 

   
               
Investing activities:  

               
Proceeds from sale of assets  

   65 
   63 

   
Acquisitions of certain distribution centers, net of cash received  

   (3,981 )  — 
   

Purchases of property, plant and equipment  
   (2,824 )  (2,547 ) 

               
Net cash used in investing activities  

   (6,740 )  (2,484 ) 
               
Financing activities:  

               
Payments under the bank credit facility, net  

   — 
   (9,377 ) 

Excess tax benefit from stock based compensation  
   315 

   392 
   

Net proceeds on option exercises  
   659 

   597 
   

               
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  

   974 
   (8,388 ) 

               
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  

   (243 )  661 
   

               
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  

   20,593 
   4,733 

   
               
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  

   $ 20,350 
   $ 5,394 

   
               
Supplemental disclosures:  

               
Interest paid during the period  

   $ 3 
   $ 186 

   
               
Income taxes paid during the period  

   $ 2,577 
   $ 695 

   
               
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash transactions:  

               
Adoption of FIN No. 48, net of tax  

   $ 708 
   $ — 

   



Keystone Automotive Industries, Inc.  
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements  

(Unaudited)  
June 29, 2007  

1.        Basis of Presentation  

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles general 
accepted in the United States for interim financial information and with the instructions of Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. 
Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring accruals, considered 
necessary for fair presentation, with respect to the interim financial statements have been included. The results of operations for the 13-week 
period ended June 29, 2007 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the full year ending March 28, 2008. The 
comparable quarter in the prior fiscal year comprised a 13-week period. For further information, refer to the financial statements and footnotes 
thereto for the year ended March 30, 2007, included in Keystone Automotive Industries, Inc. Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on June 13, 2007.  

2.        Fiscal Year  

The Company uses a 52/53 week fiscal year. The Company’s current fiscal year, which is a 52-week year, ends on March 28, 2008.  

3.        Income Taxes  

On March 31, 2007, the Company adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 48, 
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,” or FIN 48. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting and reporting for income taxes recognized in 
accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” The interpretation prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement 
attribute for the financial statement recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be 
taken in income tax returns.  

As a result of the adoption of FIN 48, on March 31, 2007 the Company recorded an increase of $2.1 million to the liability for 
unrecognized tax benefits, an increase of $1.4 million to deferred tax assets and a decrease of $0.7 million to the balance of retained earnings. 
As of March 31, 2007, the gross amount of unrecognized tax benefits was $2.8 million. The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if 
recognized, would affect the effective tax rate is $1.0 million. With the adoption of FIN 48, the Company will provide for interest and penalties 
as a part of income tax expense. As of March 31, 2007, the gross amount of interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits was $0.5 
million.  

Although unrecognized tax benefits for individual tax positions may increase or decrease during 2008, the Company does not anticipate 
significant increases or decreases to the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits during 2008 or the period one-year subsequent to June 29, 
2007.  

The Company and its subsidiaries file a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return and state income tax returns, some of which are on a 
consolidated basis. The Internal Revenue Service has examined the Company’s federal tax return for the 2002 tax year. With respect to state 
and local jurisdictions, the Company and its subsidiaries are generally not subject to exam for any tax years prior to 2002.  

4.        New Accounting Standards  

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.” SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other 
items at fair value. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the 
impact of SFAS No. 159.  

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157 defined fair value, 
establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal 
years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company is currently in the process of evaluating the impact of SFAS 157 on the Company’s 
consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.  
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5.        Acquisitions  

In April 2007, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of Auto Panels Plus, LLC, a distributor of aftermarket collision 
replacement parts with locations in Tulsa and Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. This acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of 
accounting and accordingly, the assets and liabilities have been recorded at their estimated fair value as of the date of acquisition. The results 
for fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007, assuming the acquisition of Auto Panels Plus, LLC had been made at the beginning of fiscal 2007 would not 
have been materially different from the results presented.  

The Company acquired certain assets of A-1 Auto Paint and Supply, Inc., a distributor of automotive paint and supplies located in 
Escanaba, Michigan in January 2007. This acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting and accordingly, the assets 
and liabilities of the acquired entity were recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of the acquisition. The results for fiscal 2007, 
assuming that the acquisition of A-1 Auto Paint and Supply, Inc. had been made at the beginning of fiscal 2007, would not have been 
materially different from the results presented.  

6.        Stock Based Compensation  

The Company adopted its 2005 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2005 Plan”) in August 2005, pursuant to which awards of nonqualified 
stock options, service-based shares and performance-based shares can be made. The Company accounts for its stock based compensation plan 
in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment”. Total stock based compensation expense included in general 
and administrative expenses in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of income for the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2007 and 
June 30, 2006 was $0.9 million and $0.6 million, respectively. At June 29, 2007, the remaining unrecognized compensation expense related to 
nonqualified stock options, service-based shares and performance-based shares was $11.3 million with a weighted-average remaining 
amortization period of 2.5 years.  

Nonqualified stock options  

During the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2007, the Company granted 51,334 nonqualified stock options to team members with an 
exercise price of $42.21. The Company calculated the fair value of the granted nonqualified stock options using the Black-Scholes pricing 
model and will amortize the fair value compensation over the requisite service period using the straight-line method. The nonqualified stock 
options vest over a three year period in equal installments beginning on the first anniversary of the grant date. Additionally, the nonqualified 
stock options expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date.  

The grant-date fair value of each nonqualified stock option was $18.05. At June 29, 2007, the remaining compensation expense to be 
recognized for this grant, net of estimated forfeitures, is $0.9 million. The Company used the following Black-Scholes option-pricing 
assumptions to determine the fair value of stock options on the grant date:  

(1)              The risk-free interest rate is based on a U.S. Treasury constant maturity interest rate whose term is consistent with the expected life of the 
Company’s stock options.  

(2)              The expected life of the Company’s stock options represents the estimated period of time until exercise and is based on historical 
experience of such awards.  

(3)              Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock for the period consistent with the life of the 
Company’s stock options.  

(4)              Expected forfeiture rate of the Company’s stock options is based on historical experience of such awards.  
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      June 29, 2007     June 30, 2006     
Black-Scholes Option Valuation Assumptions  

               
Risk free interest rate (1)  

   5.00 %  5.03 % 
Expected life in years (2)  

   5.25 
   5.25 

   
Expected volatility (3)  

   38.28 %  41.59 % 
Expected dividend yield  

   0 %  0 % 
Expected forfeiture rate (4)  

   2.6 %  0 % 



Service-based shares  

During the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2007, the Company granted 41,555 full value service-based shares to team members. These 
shares vest on the third anniversary of the grant date. During this period, holders of these shares are entitled to voting rights, but these shares 
are restricted until they vest and cannot be sold by the recipient until the restriction has lapsed at the end of the three-year period.  

The grant date fair value of each share was $42.21, which was equal to the market price of the Company’s stock on the grant date. At 
June 29, 2007, the remaining compensation expense to be recognized for this grant, net of estimated forfeitures, is $1.5 million. As 
compensation is amortized over the vesting period, additional paid-in capital is recognized accordingly. Full value service-based shares are not 
included as shares outstanding in the calculations of basic earnings per share, but are included in the number of shares used to calculate diluted 
earnings per share, if dilutive.  

Performance-based shares  

The Company’s performance-based share awards entitle participants to acquire shares of Common Stock upon the attainment of specific 
performance goals over a fixed performance period. During the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2007, the Company granted performance shares 
to team members. These shares vest at the end of the three year performance period in an amount determined based on actual performance as 
compared to the specific performance goals. Under this grant, from zero to 46,198 shares may be earned, with target performance resulting in 
the issuance of 23,099 shares. During the performance period, holders of these shares are not entitled to voting rights.  

The grant date fair value of each share was $42.21, which was equal to the market price of the Company’s stock on the grant date. At 
June 29, 2007, the remaining compensation expense to be recognized for this grant, net of estimated forfeitures, is $0.9 million and is based on 
achieving performance results equal to 100% of target. As compensation is amortized over the vesting period, additional paid-in capital is 
recognized accordingly. Performance shares are not included as shares outstanding in the calculations of basic earnings per share, but are 
included in the number of shares used to calculate diluted earnings per share, if dilutive.  

7.        Employee Benefit Plans  

The Company has suspended its defined benefit pension plan (the “Plan”) which was adopted to provide pension benefits to certain 
employees. Plan benefits are based on an employee’s years of service and the compensation during the five years of employment which would 
yield the highest average compensation. Effective in April 1997, the Company suspended the accrual of future benefits.  

The net periodic pension cost for the Company’s benefit plan was as follows:  

   

8.        Sales By Product  
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      Thirteen Weeks Ended     
      June 29,  

2007     June 30,  
2006     

      (in thousands)     
Service cost  

   $ 31 
   $ 33 

   
Interest cost  

   73 
   75 

   
Expected return on plan assets  

   (96 )  (100 ) 
Recognized net actuarial losses  

   37 
   36 

   
Prior service cost recognized  

   — 
   — 

   
   

   $ 45 
   $ 44 

   

      Thirteen Weeks Ended     
      June 29,  

2007     June 30,  
2006     

      (in thousands)     
Automotive body parts  

   $ 93.9 
   $ 87.1 

   
Bumpers  

   55.6 
   49.5 

   
Paint and related materials  

   16.7 
   16.0 

   
Wheels and related products  

   13.7 
   14.2 

   
Other  

   0.8 
   0.9 

   
Net Sales  

   $ 180.7 
   $ 167.7 

   



9.        Legal Proceedings  

The Company has been a party to a litigation with Ford Global Technologies, LLC before the United States International Trade 
Commission (“USITC”). On May 18, 2007, Ford filed a Notice of Appeal with the United States Federal Circuit Court of Appeals (“Federal 
Circuit”) with regard to three patents declared invalid in the Administrative Law Judge’s Initial Determination in the matter. The Company and 
the other Respondents filed a motion to intervene in such appeal in support of the USITC and the ALJ’s decision finding three of Ford’s patents 
invalid, which the Federal Circuit has subsequently granted. The Company will continue to defend this action vigorously.  

The Company is a defendant in a pending litigation with MQVP, Inc. (“MQVP”) in the Federal Bankruptcy Court in Detroit, Michigan. 
The Company has filed two motions for summary judgment in its favor, and discovery in the case has been stayed pending the outcome of 
those motions. MQVP’s Chapter 11 bankruptcy case has converted to a Chapter 7 case. A Chapter 7 trustee will be appointed, who will control 
the MQVP lawsuit. Based on the Company’s evaluation of this lawsuit to date, the Company continues to believe it has no liability to MQVP; 
however, should any liability be determined, the Company does not believe that it would have a material impact on its financial position.  

10.      Subsequent Events  

On July 16, 2007, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with LKQ Corporation, a 
Delaware corporation (“Parent”), and LKQ Acquisition Company, a California corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent, by which 
Parent has agreed to acquire the Company. As a result of the merger, each issued and outstanding share of common stock of the Company will 
be converted into the right to receive $48.00 per share in cash without interest (the “Merger Price”), and each outstanding option, whether or 
not vested, shall vest at the effective time of the merger and be converted into the right to receive $48.00 per share in cash less the applicable 
option exercise price of such option for each share of common stock underlying such option. Shares of certain of the Company’s stock plans, 
including restricted stock, restricted stock units, deferred stock and performance awards, whether or not vested, shall vest at the effective time 
of the merger on the terms set forth in the applicable Keystone stock plan and related agreements under which such shares were granted and 
such shares shall be converted into the right to receive the Merger Price. The Merger Agreement is subject to shareholder and regulatory 
approval. The merger is expected to close in the fourth quarter of calendar 2007. If the merger is terminated under certain conditions as 
described in the Merger Agreement, the Company will be required to pay Parent a termination fee of $30 million plus Parent’s out-of-pocket 
costs and expenses incurred in connection with the merger of up to $1.4 million.  

On July 18, 2007, two putative class action lawsuits were filed against the Company and its directors in the Superior Court of the State of 
California, County of Los Angeles in connection with the Company’s proposed merger with LKQ Corporation pursuant to the terms of a 
definitive merger agreement between the Company and LKQ Corporation. The lawsuits purport to represent a class of all holders of the 
Company’s common stock, allege self-dealing and breach of fiduciary duty and challenge the adequacy of the process employed by the 
Company and the share price to be paid to the Company’s stockholders in the merger. The lawsuits seek to enjoin the proposed merger and 
request payment of attorneys’ fees. The Company believes the lawsuits are without merit and intends to vigorously defend the actions.  
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Exhibit 99.2 

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements  

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet combines the unaudited condensed balance sheets of LKQ Corporation 
(“LKQ”) as of June 30, 2007 and of Keystone Automotive Industries, Inc. (“Keystone”) as of June 29, 2007, and gives effect to the acquisition 
of Keystone by LKQ (the “Merger”) as if it had been completed on June 30, 2007. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of 
income for the six months ended June 30, 2007 combine the historical results of LKQ for the six-month period ended June 30, 2007 and 
Keystone for the six-month period ended June 29, 2007 (fiscal fourth quarter ended March 30, 2007 combined with fiscal first quarter ended 
June 29, 2007). The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of income for the year ended December 31, 2006 combine the 
historical results of LKQ and Keystone for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2006 and March 30, 2007, respectively. The unaudited pro 
forma condensed combined statements of income for all periods presented give effect to the Merger as if it had occurred on January 1, 2006.  

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements presented are based on the assumptions and adjustments described 
in the accompanying notes. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements are presented for illustrative purposes and do 
not purport to represent what the financial position or results of operations would actually have been if the Merger occurred as of the dates 
indicated or what such financial position or results would be for any future periods. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial 
statements are based upon the respective historical consolidated financial statements of LKQ and Keystone, and should be read in conjunction 
with:  

•                   the accompanying notes to unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements;  

•                   the separate historical financial statements of LKQ as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2007 included in LKQ’s quarterly 
report on Form 10-Q for the six months ended June 30, 2007;  

•                   the separate historical financial statements of LKQ as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006 included in LKQ’s annual 
report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006;  

•                   the separate historical financial statements of Keystone as of and for the thirteen weeks ended June 29, 2007 included elsewhere 
in this report on Form 8-K;  

•                   the separate historical financial statements of Keystone as of and for the year ended March 30, 2007 included elsewhere in this 
report on Form 8-K.  

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information was prepared using the purchase method of accounting. Based 
upon the terms of the Merger, LKQ is treated as the acquirer of Keystone. Accordingly, we have adjusted the historical consolidated financial 
information to give effect to the impact of the consideration issued in connection with the Merger. In the unaudited pro forma condensed 
combined balance sheet, LKQ’s cost to acquire Keystone has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon 
management’s preliminary estimate of their respective values as of the date of the Merger. Any differences between fair value of the 
consideration issued and the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired will be recorded as goodwill. The amounts allocated to acquired 
assets and liabilities in the  
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unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements are based upon LKQ management’s preliminary internal valuation estimates. 
Definitive allocations will be performed and finalized based upon certain valuations and other studies that will be performed by LKQ with the 
services of outside valuation specialists after the closing of the Merger. Accordingly, the purchase price allocation adjustments and related 
amortization reflected in the following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements are preliminary, have been made solely 
for the purpose of preparing these statements and are subject to revision based on a final determination of fair value after closing of the Merger. 
For example, if the value of the definite-lived intangible assets increased by 10%, annual pro forma operating income would decrease by $0.4 
million.  

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of income also include certain purchase accounting adjustments, including 
items expected to have a continuing impact on the combined results, such as increased amortization expense on acquired intangible assets.  

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of income do not include the impacts of any revenue, cost or other operating 
synergies that may result from the Merger or any related restructuring costs. Key areas for benefits include purchasing efficiencies, 
warehousing and distribution savings, overhead reductions including those related to duplicative public company expenses, and working capital 
efficiencies. There will also be potential cross-selling opportunities and enhanced fulfillment rates.  

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements do not reflect the impact of financing, liquidity or other balance 
sheet repositioning that may be undertaken subsequent to the Merger. Simultaneous with the filing of this report on Form 8-K, LKQ is filing a 
prospectus supplement to a shelf registration statement LKQ has on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, pursuant to which LKQ 
plans to issue and sell 8,500,000 shares of its common stock prior to the expected closing of the Keystone acquisition. LKQ expects estimated 
net proceeds from that offering of $252.1 million based on the closing price of LKQ’s common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market 
on August 31, 2007 of $30.98 per share. The proceeds LKQ will receive from that offering, if and when completed, are expected to be used 
toward the acquisition of Keystone. The closing of that offering is not conditioned on the closing of the debt financing or the acquisition of 
Keystone, and we expect to close that offering prior to completing either the debt financing or the acquisition of Keystone. These unaudited pro 
forma condensed combined financial statements include a column for equity financing adjustments and an as adjusted column that reflect the 
expected impact of the sale of common stock from that stock offering.  

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements do not reflect certain amounts resulting from the Merger because 
we consider them to be of a non-recurring nature. Such amounts will be comprised of charges for the sale of inventories revalued at the date of 
acquisition as well as restructuring and other exit and non-recurring costs related to the integration of the LKQ and Keystone businesses. To the 
extent the exit costs relate to the Keystone business and meet certain criteria, they will be recognized in the opening balance sheet in 
accordance with EITF Issue No. 95-3, “Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with a Purchase Business Combination.” To the extent that 
such costs relate to the LKQ business, they will not meet the criteria in EITF Issue No. 95-3 and will be recorded as expenses pursuant to 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” LKQ and Keystone 
have just recently begun collecting information in order to formulate detailed integration plans to deliver planned synergies. However, at this 
time, the status of integration plans and the related merger-related costs that are reflected in the following unaudited pro forma condensed 
combined balance sheet are preliminary, have been made solely for the purpose of preparing these statements, and are subject to revision after 
the closing of the Merger.  

Based upon LKQ’s review of Keystone’s summary of significant policies disclosed in Keystone’s financial statements, the nature and 
amount of any adjustments to the historical financial statements of Keystone to conform their accounting policies to those of LKQ are not 
expected to be significant. Upon consummation of the Merger, further review of Keystone’s accounting policies and financial statements may 
result in required revisions to Keystone’s policies and classifications to conform to LKQ’s.  Keystone will be  
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required to adopt LKQ’s reporting calendar. As a result, Keystone will change its fiscal year from a 52/53 week fiscal year to a calendar year 
basis upon the closing of the Merger.  
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Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet  
As of June 30, 2007  

(In thousands, except share and per share data)  

   
See notes to unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.  
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      Historical           LKQ     Equity           
      June 30, 2007     June 29, 2007     Pro Forma     Combined     Financing           
      LKQ     Keystone     Adjustments     Pro Forma     Adjustments     As Adjusted     

Assets  
                                       

                               
Current Assets:  

                                       
Cash and equivalents  

   $ 8,854 
   $ 20,350 

   $ (11,936 )(b)  $ 17,268 
   $ 60,623 (k)  $ 77,891 

   
Receivables, net  

   54,143 
   60,090 

   — 
   114,233 

   — 
   114,233 

   
Inventory  

   156,557 
   144,388 

   2,700 (d)  303,645 
   — 

   303,645 
   

Deferred income taxes  
   3,172 

   — 
   11,564 (a)  21,536 

   — 
   21,536 

   
   

               6,800 (f)  
      — 

         
Prepaid expenses  

   3,670 
   16,915 

   (11,564 )(a)  11,361 
   — 

   11,361 
   

   
               2,340 (b)  

                  
                               

Total Current Assets  
   226,396 

   241,743 
   (96 )  468,043 

   60,623 
   528,666 

   
                               
Property and Equipment, net  

   140,557 
   39,076 

   — 
   179,633 

   — 
   179,633 

   
Intangibles  

   263,573 
   44,123 

   (43,087 )(c)  889,933 
   — 

   889,933 
   

   
               625,324 (e)  

                  
Other Assets  

   15,543 
   9,927 

   (4,291 )(a)  24,945 
   (3,750 )(k)  21,195 

   
   

               14,110 (b)  
                  

   
               (9,894 )(m)  

                  
   

               (450 )(j)  
                  

                               
Total Assets  

   $ 646,069 
   $ 334,869 

   $ 581,616 
   $ 1,562,554 

   $ 56,873 
   $ 1,619,427 

   
                               

Liabilities and Stockholders’  Equity  
                                       

                               
Current Liabilities:  

                                       
Accounts payable  

   $ 17,714 
   $ 29,152 

   $ — 
   $ 46,866 

   $ — 
   $ 46,866 

   
Accrued expenses  

   30,805 
   30,450 

   (4,470 )(a)  71,191 
   — 

   71,191 
   

   
               14,406 (d)  

                  
Income taxes payable  

   3,416 
   — 

   4,470 (a)  7,886 
   (4,838 )(k)  3,048 

   
Deferred revenue  

   4,391 
   — 

   — 
   4,391 

   — 
   4,391 

   
Current portion of long-term obligations  

   9,802 
   — 

   — 
   9,802 

   — 
   9,802 

   
                               

Total Current Liabilities  
   66,128 

   59,602 
   14,406 

   140,136 
   (4,838 )  135,298 

   
                               
Long-Term Obligations, Excluding Current Portion  

   128,905 
   — 

   947,000 (b)  949,712 
   (197,000 )(k)  752,712 

   
   

               (126,193 )(j)  
                  

Deferred Income Tax Liability  
   4,959 

   — 
   (4,291 )(a)  23,212 

         23,212 
   

   
               23,850 (f)  

                  
   

               (1,306 )(m)  
                  

                               
Other Noncurrent Liabilities  

   8,787 
   6,148 

   — 
   14,935 

         14,935 
   

                               
Commitments and Contingencies  

                                       
                               
Stockholders’  Equity:  

                                       
Common stock  

   536 
   102,730 

   (102,730 )(g)  536 
   90 (k)  626 

   
Additional paid-in capital  

   328,597 
   15,832 

   (15,832 )(g)  328,597 
   258,621 (k)  587,218 

   
Retained earnings  

   105,948 
   150,340 

   (150,340 )(g)  105,498 
         105,498 

   
   

               (450 )(j)  
                  

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  
   2,209 

   217 
   (2,281 )(m)  (72 ) 

      (72 ) 
   

               (217 )(g)  
                  

                               
Total Stockholders’ Equity  

   437,290 
   269,119 

   (271,850 )  434,559 
   258,711 

   693,270 
   

                               
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity  

   $ 646,069 
   $ 334,869 

   $ 581,616 
   $ 1,562,554 

   $ 56,873 
   $ 1,619,427 

   



Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Income  
For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2007  

(In thousands, except per share data)  

   
See notes to unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.  
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      Historical                             
      Six Months Ended     Six Months Ended           LKQ     Equity           
      June 30, 2007     June 29, 2007     Pro Forma     Acquistion     Financing           
      LKQ     Keystone     Adjustments     Pro Forma     Adjustments     As Adjusted     

Revenue  
   $ 468,596 

   $ 380,864 
   $ (1,805 )(h)  $ 847,655 

   $ — 
   $ 847,655 

   
                                   
Cost of goods sold  

   256,417 
   208,947 

   (1,805 )(h)  463,559 
   — 

   463,559 
   

                                   
Gross margin  

   212,179 
   171,917 

   — 
   384,096 

   — 
   384,096 

   
                                   
Facility and warehouse expenses  

   50,244 
   — 

   26,829 (a)  77,073 
   — 

   77,073 
   

                                   
Distribution expenses  

   44,388 
   — 

   42,287 (a)  86,675 
   — 

   86,675 
   

                                   
Selling, general and administrative 

expenses  
   56,862 

   — 
   69,308 (a)  126,170 

   — 
   126,170 

   
                                   
Selling and distribution expenses  

   — 
   102,775 

   (102,775 )(a)  — 
   — 

   — 
   

                                   
General and administrative expenses  

   — 
   40,469 

   (40,469 )(a)  — 
   — 

   — 
   

                                   
Depreciation and amortization  

   6,781 
   — 

   4,820 (a)  13,463 
   — 

   13,463 
   

   
               1,862 (e)  

                  
                                   

Operating income  
   53,904 

   28,673 
   (1,862 )  80,715 

   — 
   80,715 

   
                                   
Other (income) expense:  

                                       
Interest expense, net  

   3,826 
   19 

   38,165 (b)  42,010 
   (11,816 )(l)  30,194 

   
Other (income) expense, net  

   (675 )  (2,478 )  — 
   (3,153 )  — 

   (3,153 ) 
                                   

Total other expense  
   3,151 

   (2,459 )  38,165 
   38,857 

   (11,816 )  27,041 
   

                                   
Income before provision for income 

taxes  
   50,753 

   31,132 
   (40,027 )  41,858 

   11,816 
   53,674 

   
                                   
Provision for income taxes  

   20,943 
   12,338 

   (15,850 )(i)  17,431 
   4,680 (l)  22,111 

   
                                   

Net income  
   $ 29,810 

   $ 18,794 
   $ (24,177 )  $ 24,427 

   $ 7,136 
   $ 31,563 

   
                                   
Net income per share:  

                                       
Basic  

   $ 0.56 
               $ 0.46 

         $ 0.51 
   

                                   
Diluted  

   $ 0.53 
               $ 0.44 

         $ 0.49 
   

                                   
Weighted average common shares 

outstanding:  
                                       

Basic  
   53,420 

               53,420 
         62,420 

   
                                   

Diluted  
   56,123 

               56,123 
         64,885 

   



Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Income  
For the Year Ended December 31, 2006  
(In thousands, except per share data)  

   
See notes to unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements.  
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      Historical                             
      Fiscal Year Ended     Fiscal Year Ended           LKQ     Equity           
      December 31, 2006     March 30, 2007     Pro Forma     Combined     Financing           
      LKQ     Keystone     Adjustments     Pro Forma     Adjustments     As Adjusted     

Revenue  
   $ 789,381 

   $ 713,955 
   $ (1,782 )(h) $ 1,501,554 

   $ — 
   $ 1,501,554 

   
                                   
Cost of goods sold  

   431,832 
   395,338 

   (1,782 )(h) 825,388 
   — 

   825,388 
   

                                   
Gross margin  

   357,549 
   318,617 

   — 
   676,166 

   — 
   676,166 

   
                                   
Facility and warehouse expenses  

   86,298 
         49,756 (a)  136,054 

   — 
   136,054 

   
                                   
Distribution expenses  

   80,088 
         81,585 (a)  161,673 

   — 
   161,673 

   
                                   
Selling, general and administrative expenses  

   102,174 
         130,864 (a)  233,038 

   — 
   233,038 

   
                                   
Selling and distribution expenses  

         199,749 
   (199,749 )(a)  — 

   — 
   — 

   
                                   
General and administrative expenses  

         71,238 
   (71,238 )(a)  — 

   — 
   — 

   
                                   
Depreciation and amortization  

   11,823 
   — 

   8,782 (a)  24,329 
   — 

   24,329 
   

                  3,724 (e)  
                  

                                   
Operating income  

   77,166 
   47,630 

   (3,724 )  121,072 
   — 

   121,072 
   

                                   
Other (income) expense:  

                                       
Interest expense, net  

   5,824 
   299 

   73,524 (b)  79,647 
   (21,454 )(l)  58,193 

   
Other (income) expense, net  

   (1,479 )  (2,936 )  — 
   (4,415 )  — 

   (4,415 ) 
                                   

Total other expense  
   4,345 

   (2,637 )  73,524 
   75,232 

   (21,454 )  53,778 
   

                                   
Income before provision for income taxes  

   72,821 
   50,267 

   (77,248 )  45,840 
   21,454 

   67,294 
   

                                   
Provision for income taxes  

   28,426 
   19,943 

   (30,590 )(i)  17,779 
   8,500 (l)  26,279 

   
                                   

Net income  
   $ 44,395 

   $ 30,324 
   $ (46,658 )  $ 28,061 

   $ 12,954 
   $ 41,015 

   
                                   
Net income per share:  

                                       
Basic  

   $ 0.84 
               $ 0.53 

         $ 0.66 
   

                                   
Diluted  

   $ 0.80 
               $ 0.50 

         $ 0.64 
   

                                   
Weighted average common shares outstanding:  

                                       
Basic  

   52,827 
               52,827 

         61,827 
   

                                   
Diluted  

   55,817 
               55,817 

         64,583 
   



Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements  
(Dollars in thousands)  

1.               Basis of Presentation  

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet was prepared using the historical balance sheets of LKQ as of June 30, 
2007 and Keystone as of June 29, 2007. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of income were prepared using the historical 
statements of income of LKQ for the six months ended June 30, 2007 and the year ended December 31, 2006 and of Keystone for the six 
months ended June 29, 2007 (fiscal fourth quarter ended March 30, 2007 combined with fiscal first quarter ended June 29, 2007) and the year 
ended March 30, 2007.  

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information was prepared using the purchase method of accounting. Based 
upon the terms of the Merger, LKQ is treated as the acquirer of Keystone. Accordingly, we have adjusted the historical consolidated financial 
information to give effect to the impact of the consideration issued in connection with the Merger. In the unaudited pro forma condensed 
combined balance sheet, LKQ’s cost to acquire Keystone has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon LKQ 
management’s preliminary estimate of their respective values as of the date of the Merger. Any differences between fair value of the 
consideration issued and the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired will be recorded as goodwill. The amounts allocated to acquired 
assets and liabilities in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements are based upon LKQ management’s preliminary 
internal valuation estimates. For these purposes, LKQ management has assumed the fair value of property and equipment is equal to book 
value. Definitive allocations will be performed and finalized based upon certain valuations and other studies that will be performed by LKQ 
with the services of outside valuation specialists after the closing of the merger. Accordingly, the purchase price allocation adjustments and 
related amortization reflected in the following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements are preliminary, have been made 
solely for the purpose of preparing these statements and are subject to revision based on a final determination of fair value after the closing of 
the Merger. For example, if the value of the definite-lived intangible assets increased by 10%, annual pro forma operating income would 
decrease by approximately $372.  

2.               Purchase Price  

The estimated purchase price and the allocation of the estimated purchase price discussed below are preliminary as the proposed 
acquisition has not yet been completed. The following is a preliminary estimate of the purchase price for Keystone:  
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Estimated purchase price for Keystone  
   $ 805,600 

   
          
Estimated transaction costs  

   5,230 
   

          
Total estimated preliminary purchase price  

   $ 810,830 
   



The allocation of the estimated preliminary purchase price and the estimated useful lives associated with certain assets are as follows:  

   

3.                 Pro Forma Adjustments  

The pro forma adjustments give effect to the acquisition of Keystone under the purchase method of accounting, the entry into and 
borrowings under the new senior secured financing arrangement, the repayment of LKQ’s existing indebtedness, the proposed offering of 
8,500,000 shares of LKQ Corporation common stock and exercise of 500,000 stock options for shares to be sold in the offering by certain of 
the selling stockholders, and the payment of fees and expenses relating to these transactions. The following pro forma adjustments are based on 
preliminary estimates, which may change as additional information is obtained:  

a.                To reclassify certain balance sheet accounts of Keystone and all of the operating expenses of Keystone in the pro forma 
condensed combined balance sheet and statements of income to conform to LKQ’s classifications.  

b.               To record acquisition debt of $947,000, cash paid for the merger and other transaction costs of $11,936, payment of debt issuance 
costs of $16,450 and the related decrease in interest income earned and/or increase in interest expense incurred.  

c.                To eliminate Keystone’s existing goodwill of $43,087.  

d.               To record Keystone’s assets and liabilities at fair value, including $14,406 in accrued EITF 95-3 restructuring liabilities. The cost 
of goods sold impact of the $2,700 write-up of inventory to fair value has been excluded from the pro forma condensed combined 
statement of income as it is a non-recurring item.  

e.                To record goodwill of $550,854 and acquired intangible assets of $74,470 and amortization of definite-lived intangible assets.  

f.                  To record deferred taxes related to identifiable intangible assets and fair value adjustments, where required, at 39.6%, the 
estimated weighted average statutory tax rate.  

g.               To remove the historical equity accounts of Keystone.  

h.               To eliminate revenue and cost of goods sold for sales between LKQ and Keystone.  
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   Amount     Estimated  
useful lives     

               
Net tangible assets at book value  

   $ 269,119 
         

Less: write off of existing goodwill  
   (43,087 )  

      
 transaction costs to be paid by Keystone  

   (10,600 )  
      

               
Adjusted book value of assets acquired  

   215,432 
         

Remaining allocation:  
               

Increase inventory to fair value  
   2,700 

         
Record identifiable intangible assets at fair value  

   74,470 
   20 years 

   
Record EITF 95-3 restructuring liabilities  

   (14,406 )  
      

Deferred tax liability  
   (18,220 )  

      
Goodwill  

   550,854 
         

               
Total estimated preliminary purchase price  

   $ 810,830 
         



i.                   To record a tax benefit on pro forma adjustments to income related to the merger, at 39.6%, the estimated weighted average 
statutory tax rate.  

j.                   To record repayment of indebtedness under existing credit facility of $126,193 and related writeoff of unamortized debt issuance 
costs of $450.  

k.                To reflect the proposed offering of 8,500,000 shares of LKQ Corporation common stock and exercise of 500,000 stock options 
for shares to be sold in the offering by certain of the selling stockholders, including $4,838 of income tax benefit from such option 
exercise resulting in estimated net proceeds of $258,711, and the resulting reduction in debt required to complete the Keystone 
acquisition and related reduction in debt issuance costs of $3,750.  

l.                   To reflect the reduction in interest expense and increase in income tax provision resulting from the reduction in debt due to the 
proceeds from the proposed offering of 8,500,000 shares of LKQ Corporation common stock and the exercise of 500,000 stock 
options for shares to be sold in the offering by certain of the selling stockholders.  

m.             To reflect the cancellation of Keystone shares previously owned by LKQ and reversal of related deferred tax liability.  
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